

Employee perspectives on individualized pay Attitudes and fairness perceptions

Teresia Stråberg

©Teresia Stråberg, Stockholm 2010

ISBN 978-91-7447-025-3

Printed in Sweden by US-AB, Stockholm 2010

Distributor: Department of Psychology, Stockholm University

Cover photo: Kriss Szkurlatowski

To my daughter Danielle –

An endless source of joy and my reason for everything

Abstract

The use of various types of individualized pay setting has increased dramatically in Sweden. In order for individualized pay to work as an incentive, the pay system has to be perceived as fair. This thesis focuses on the various subjective perceptions that arise in relation to individualized pay setting, since such perceptions may have consequences for employee attitudes and behavior. Using survey data from Swedish human service workers (Study I and II) as well as other public employees (Study III), the general aim was to shed more light on employees' pay attitudes and fairness perceptions in connection with individualized pay setting. Study I examined some of the explanatory factors behind employee pay attitudes. The results showed that perceiving a clear connection between work results and pay, and perceiving a sound working climate, were both related to more positive attitudes towards the pay distribution process. Study II examined factors potentially associated with pay-related justice perceptions. The results demonstrated that perceptions of having sufficient feedback, proper information on pay criteria, gender equality, and lower workloads were connected with more favorable views of pay justice. Pay justice perceptions, in turn, appeared only to be marginally connected with employees' workrelated attitudes and behavior. Study III investigated whether women's and men's perceptions of the individualized pay-setting process differed. The results showed that both genders had a similar awareness of the organizational policies and goals. The women, however, reported much lower levels of pay-related gender equality than the men and perceived that men, overall, benefited more from individualized pay setting. In conclusion, employees' perceptions of a well-functioning working climate, apparent links between work effort and pay, as well as perceived equal opportunities contribute to individualized pay systems being viewed as more fair.

Keywords: pay-for-performance, fairness, pay attitudes, gender differences, equal opportunities, pay system, work climate, justice perceptions, pay setting.

Acknowledgements

The research reported in this thesis has been made possible through grants from the Swedish Council for Working Life and Social Research (FAS) and from the Department of Psychology. Aside from the economic sponsorship, there are a number of persons who in different ways have contributed to this thesis during the decade I have been a student and employee at Stockholm University.

It was Magnus Sverke and Johnny Hellgren who first gave me the opportunity to get a glance at – and as it would turn out – get stuck in the world of academia. They later became both my supervisors and co-writers of the studies in this thesis. Magnus, I don't even know where to begin to describe what you have meant to me and how you have contributed to my academic development. You are nothing short of brilliant in all your endeavors, in addition to being a kind, humorous, and understanding supervisor, which I always will think back on with fondness.

Unfortunately Johnny's career went on in another direction, and I hereby thank him for the first two years of supervising the progress of my thesis and for all the fun we have had during the years as co-workers and travel partners. Fortunately for me, Katharina Näswall filled his position as supervisor and has been indispensable as a co-supervisor, co-writer, and co-worker. You have constantly been available for friendly support and advice, and been a provider of excellent ideas. I will always remember your kind wisdom as well as all the laughs we have shared over the years. I would hereby wish to thank both Magnus and Katharina from the bottom of my heart.

I am also exceptionally grateful for the support and friendship my coworker and friend, Helena Falkenberg, has given me. She has meant the world to me during all the years we have studied and worked together. In more recent years we have also shared the joys and hardships of motherhood. I also want to mention my former mentor and cherished coworker Sara Göransson, who always offered me friendly support and insightful advice. My deepest appreciation goes out to all of my other coworkers at the Division of Work and Organizational Psychology who have made going to work both interesting and fun over the years. In fear of forgetting someone, I won't mention you all by name, but you know who you are. I also want to express gratitude to the administrative and IT-support personnel who have been so helpful over the years, such as Ulla Gautam, the

heart and soul of our division, who quietly runs the place in such a modest way that we almost do not recognize it. Thank you for all your help, alongside others such as Henric Bergqvist, Henrik Dunér, Hans Fornlind, Kerstin Halldin, Monika Karlsson, and Tommy Olin.

There are a few people that I have come across during my years at the Department of Psychology who deserve special mention for their ability to offer knowledge, inspiration as well as pleasant company: Jakob Eklund (formerly Håkansson), Marie Gustafsson, Jenny Laurell, Henry Montgomery, Johan Willander; and, last but not least, Gunilla Preisler, who is not only a great luncheon companion, but who also deserves special recognition for the infinite support she provided when serving as Dean of the research program.

I also extend a special thanks to David Speeckaert, since his encouragement, insightful advice, skills, and seemingly endless patience with me during this stressful period has been of great value to me.

Among my co-workers and contacts outside the department that are well worth mentioning is Elizabeth Neu Morén, who not only shares my interest in matters of pay, but who also has offered me great mentorship and true friendship – for which I am deeply grateful. I also would like to extend a heartfelt thank you to all of my current and future co-workers at IPF AB, who have given me encouragement, inspiration, and comic relief from the get-go. Kerstin Björk-Östlund at Almega also deserves my deepest appreciation for taking an interest in me, believing in my potential, and sharing her vast knowledge of pay setting with me.

I also want to express my innermost appreciation to my friends outside of work who have given me constant support and who have kept me in touch with the "world outside": Anneli, Camilla, Catharina, Cinna, Ingrid, Iréne, Jenny, Petra, Tiina, Ullis, Vickan, and Ylva.

I am also genuinely thankful for all the support I have received from my family. My dad Ivan – who really deserves a special paragraph, for his endless love and encouragement throughout my life and for the valuable discussions we have had about working life in general; his wife Eva, who is always looking after our family; my dearly beloved sisters, Alexandra and Johanna – the best sisters anyone could ever wish for, and their wonderful families; my grandfather, who at the age of 98 still has a lot of insightful comments on today's working life; and my dear uncle Åke, who is not only family but also a wonderful friend.

Finally, I want to thank my co-habitant, Frank, for his support throughout the years (when I am sure he was wondering if I would ever finish "school") and for taking a greater responsibility for our beloved daughter Danielle during the months when this thesis was being finalized.

Teresia Stråberg Stockholm, April 2010

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following studies:

I Andersson-Stråberg, T., Sverke, M., Hellgren, J., & Näswall, K. (2005). Attitudes toward individualized pay among human service workers in the public sector. In C. Korunka & P. Hoffmann (Eds.), *Change and quality in human service work* (pp. 67-82). Munich: Rainer Hampp.

Reprinted with permission from © 2005 Rainer Hampp Verlag.

II Andersson-Stråberg, T., Sverke, M., & Hellgren, J. (2007). Perceptions of justice in connection with individualized pay setting. *Economic & Industrial Democracy*, 28, 431-464.

Reprinted with permission from Economic and Industrial Democracy, © SAGE Publications.

III Stråberg, T., Näswall, K., & Sverke, M. (2008). Gender equality and the individualised pay-setting process. In M. Vartiainen, C. Antoni, X. Baeten, N. Hakonen, R. Lucas, & H. Thierry (Eds.), *Reward management: Facts and trends in Europe* (pp. 48-68). Lengerich, Germany: Pabst Science Publishers.

Reprinted with permission from © 2008 Pabst Science Publisers.

Contents

Introduction	1
Aims	
	_
Attitudes towards pay and their links to motivation	
Pay attitudes	
Predicting pay attitudes	
Demographics	
Work environment	
Pay and performance-related factors	12
Justice perceptions in regard to individualized pay setting	14
Why justice perceptions matter	14
Dimensions of justice	16
Distributive justice	16
Procedural justice	17
Interactional justice	18
Informational justice	19
Interpersonal justice	19
The four justice dimensions put into practice	19
Predicting perceptions of pay justice	20
Consequences of (in)justice	21
Individualized pay setting and gender equality	24
Organizational goals, policies, and pay criteria	
Gender differences and equality in respect to pay setting	
Summary of studies	
Study I: Attitudes toward individualized pay among human service	
in the public sector	
Objectives	
Sample	
Data analysis	
Findings	
Conclusions	
Study II: Perceptions of justice in connection with individualized pay	_
Objectives	33

Sample	33
Data analysis	33
Findings	34
Conclusions	35
Study III: Gender equality and the individualized pay-setting process	36
Objectives	36
Sample	36
Data analysis	36
Findings	36
Conclusions	37
Discussion	39
Pay attitudes	39
Pay-related justice	41
A gender perspective on pay perceptions	44
Methodological considerations	46
Theoretical implications and future research	49
Concluding remarks	
References	57

Introduction

There are many reasons why people work. Work provides an income, it is activating and stimulating, a source of social interaction, and it gives structure to the day (Warr, 2007). It is the promise of external (e.g., pay) and internal (e.g., satisfaction) rewards that motivates nearly everyone to participate in the labor force (Jahoda, 1982). What people earn in pay greatly impacts their lifestyles. It affects their living standards, access to education, type of residence, and, in relation to work, it can also affect their choice of employer, work pace, and degree of motivation (Pfeffer, 1997). Pay is also something that can be utilized by employers, who may use it to motivate their current personnel, or use it as a means of attracting new and competent employees who have sought-after skills and knowledge (Katzell & Thomson, 1990).

Sweden's economic development has mirrored that of other industrial countries. The Swedish pay negotiation system is more strongly centralized than that of many other countries, with collective agreements regulating both pay levels and pay raises (Bender & Elliot, 2003). This centralization is rooted in the close cooperation that existed among the actors in the labor market (from the so-called Saltsjöbaden's agreement), which resulted in there being little business-related conflict during the greater part of the twentieth century (Magnusson, 1999). Historically, the development of industrial countries began with the introduction of factories, which soon after utilized mass production techniques, and has gradually progressed until the relatively recent introduction of significantly more advanced technology in the form of computers (Dicken, 1998). This has led to a great decline for the traditional industrial sector in recent decades, as a gradual transformation from an industrial society to a more post-industrial society is taking place (Ester, Halman, & de Moor, 1994). Since the 1970s, the service sector has increased considerably, especially within the areas of communication, service, trade, education, and healthcare (Grant & Parker, 2009; Magnusson, 1999). It is not only where people work that has changed, but also the nature of work itself; it is now more flexible, complex, and knowledge-demanding than it was only a couple of decades ago, which has, in turn, led to more specific and individual-based work tasks (Ferlie, Ashburner, Fitzgerald, & Pettigrew, 1996). It is not only the demands placed on employees' abilities to learn and adjust that have become greater, as the employers have had to face new challenges as well. Since work is often carried out independently,

supervisors usually do not have full insight into, or knowledge about, what their employees are doing (Oldham & Hackman, 2010).

Alongside these changes in the circumstances surrounding work a distinct trend has emerged over the last twenty-five years in regard to pay setting – known as individualized pay. Compared to earlier pay systems in which employees' pay raises were distributed automatically according to such criteria as their tenure or seniority (Doherty & Nord, 2001), with individualized pay, pay raises are differentiated and based on individuals' work performances. Individualized pay is meant to allow employees to have more control over their potential pay growth by enabling them to, for example, alter their work performance, which, at least theoretically, could give them a greater degree of influence over their pay raises as compared to other pay systems. Usually, pay raises occur after an evaluation of the employee's work-related performance, based on previously determined criteria. Typically, the results of this evaluation are discussed during a regularly scheduled performance review, in which issues of pay raises and performance are discussed between the pay-setting supervisor and the employee (Milliman, Nason, Zhu, & De Cieri, 2002; Pfeffer, 1997). Other forms of individualized pay may include bonuses, stock options, piece-rate wages, profit sharing, etc. According to Sweden's National Mediation Office (2008), the pay-setting processes for more than half of all employees include some degree of involvement at the local level, and this is believed to be a trend that will continue to grow over time and encompass an increasing range of occupational groups.

The use of individualized pay has been a topic of interest for many of the larger Swedish union organizations (Wallenberg, 2000). This has lead to pay criteria being outlined in central agreements and most associations recommend that pay setting should occur locally and individually. The amount put aside for individual pay raises are however limited. Local pay setting is presumed to provide a clearer connection between employees' work performance, their prospects for pay growth, and the organization's profitability.

Generally, among labor market parties as well as employees, there is an expectation that individualized pay will be a profitable type of pay system now and in the future. Employers hope that it will spur on their employees by increasing their motivation and performance (Lawler, 1991; Pfeffer, 1997). The employees, on the other hand, are more likely interested in the individual benefits, since there could be a greater opportunity for them to excel and earn more rewards (Harris, Anseel, & Leivens, 2008). While such benefits are appealing, one has to wonder if the expectations placed on the individualized pay system are indeed realistic. There are in fact a number of reasons to doubt that such a pay system could actually function as intended, and no firm research support has been found for the notion that individualized pay increases employee productivity (Pfeffer & Sutton, 2006)

or employee motivation (OECD, 2003). There are even strong concerns that individualized pay setting will lead to increased competitiveness amongst employees and thus hinder cooperation, which in turn would likely hamper productivity (Kohn, 2001).

One of the major differences with individualized pay setting in comparison to traditional pay systems is that it gives employers more leeway in which to differentiate the initial salaries of employees (which is essentially the starting point for employees' future pay growth) (Gerhart & Rynes, 1991). This is followed by pay raises that are individually based according to each employee's work performance. In other words, it is the starting pay and the continued pay growth that are governed by individual factors. The portion of one's pay that is derived from individual accomplishments rarely comprises more than a few percentage points of most employees' salaries (OECD, 2003). This means that among individual employees the differences in the financial benefits of such individualized raises are rather marginal, and that the raise is, rather, more of a symbol of how well an individual is succeeding and how satisfied the supervisors and organization are with the individual's work efforts. Although the financial pay-raise differences may be slight, mistrust, anxiety, and jealousy can still emerge from the situation if employees end up wondering why someone else received more of a raise than themselves. What makes the differences in pay raises among individuals so critical is the individuals' interpretations of the reasons behind pay-raise decisions (Lawler, 1971) as, for instance, a coworker's raise could be seen as indicating that the supervisor values that coworker more highly than another, which in turn could give rise to negative feelings and behavior (Gaddis, Connelly, & Mumford, 2004). The subjective perceptions surrounding the differences in pay raises are, therefore, also very likely to affect employees' work-related attitudes and behavior in addition to their actual financial outcomes.

Individualized pay raises are meant to occur after an evaluation has been made of whether the employee has met the previously determined payrelated criteria. However, since individuals are different and interpret reality in different ways (James & Sells, 1981; Magnusson, 1981), a good amount of uncertainty can arise in respect to the pay-related criteria and how they are to be fulfilled. Indeed, it is quite possible for individuals to have different understandings and interpretations of the same pay-related criteria. Individualized pay setting places more demands on supervisors to be informed, knowledgeable, just, competent, etc. (Gaddis et al., 2004). There are a number of potential challenges facing pay-setting supervisors, as they may find themselves with limited room for action, having difficulties carrying out differentiated pay increases, and having to handle conflicts – along with the inevitable challenge of working with the subjectivity built into the individualized pay system. Previously, when work was more concentrated around manufacturing, work performance was easier to

quantify, and employee pay could be based on the number of products or units produced. Today's salaries are, to a greater degree, based on individuals' personal work efforts, employment development and work results, which may not be easy to reconcile with the expectation that employees are to be treated equally (Neu, 2006).

If the employees are unsure about what or who is to be rewarded in regard to pay, feelings of injustice can arise along with more or less well-founded guesses about why one person received a better pay raise than another (Greenberg, 1993b). There are even those who fear that pay criteria would steer employees in a too narrow direction and/or that employees would even stop taking on work tasks that do not lead to pay raises (Pfeffer, 1997). This essentially hinges on the degree of trust and quality of communication existing between the management, the pay-setting supervisors, and the employees (Greenberg & Lind, 2000). It is, however, doubtful that the pay-setting supervisors receive the support or resources necessary to properly prepare themselves for many of the challenges that this pay system carries with it. One could even question whether it is at all possible for all employees to be satisfied with their pay raises – and whether this even should be the goal.

One of the most fundamental examples of perceptions in respect to pay setting concerns pay justice, as it is common for individuals to assess whether they are satisfied with their pay by comparing their pay to not only their own work effort, but also to what others receive in pay (Adams, 1965; Greenberg, Dutton, & Ragins, 2007). Individuals also tend to analyze whether their supervisors are acting in a fair and honest manner, whether the organizational policies in place are just, and whether satisfactory reasons are given for the various types of decisions that are made (Colquitt, 2001), such as pay-raise decisions (Schaubroek, May, & Brown, 1994). If employees do not believe that the pay-setting process is sufficiently just, it can affect their emotions and actions in a number of different ways (Bembenek, Beike, & Schroeder, 2007). For example, it has been shown that if employees consider the organization's pay distribution policies or supervisors to be unfair, it can lead to counterproductive behavior, such as employee theft (Greenberg, 1986), greater work absence (Colquitt, Noe, & Jackson, 2002; de Boer, Bakker, Syroit, & Shaufeli, 2002), turnover (Dailey & Kirk, 1992), the destroying of work equipment, (Bies, 2005), and refusing to follow the supervisors' instructions (Skarlicki & Folger, 1997). It would therefore be of importance to increase our knowledge of how justice perceptions are formed, and how they in turn are related to attitudinal and behavioral outcomes.

Though most individuals have many work- and pay-related attitudes and perceptions in common, there can still be reason to investigate whether differences exist among those of certain groups of individuals. Some studies, for example, have shown that women sometimes feel discriminated against in connection with the pay-setting process (e.g., Barron, 2003), and it is not

uncommon for women to receive less pay for their work than their male colleagues with similar levels of experience and education (National Mediation Office, 2008). It has also been shown that women, regardless of occupation, expect to receive lower financial benefits from pay negotiations than their male colleagues (Hultin & Szulkin, 2003; Jackson, Gardner, & Sullivan, 1992). The critical question is: do men and women view the individualized pay-setting process differently and, if so, what are the potential consequences?

The financial rewards employees receive for their work affects both their emotions as well as their thoughts, which, in turn, influences their general well-being and how they behave at work (Katzell & Thomson, 1990; Greenberg, 1993b). This implies that the effects that a pay system has on employees greatly depend on how it is perceived (Williams, McDaniel, & Nguyen, 2006), which suggests how important it is to consider pay setting from a psychological perspective. For a pay system to be considered successful, it must be seen as fulfilling the subjective expectations of those involved (Williams et al., 2006). The fact that expectations do exist in connection with the pay-setting process indicates that people believe that they are able to control their surroundings. This belief is important for people, as they continually analyze their surroundings in order to understand what is going on (James & Sells, 1981; Weich, Sutcliffe, & Obstfeld, 2005). But what happens to work motivation and performance when pay-raise expectations are not met, or if the employee does not want individualized pay?

Most of the research that has been done on individualized pay has primarily focused on the conditions in North America, and not enough European research has been produced, especially in regard to a number of important questions regarding, for example, which pay system is most preferred by employees, what factors have an influence on attitudes towards individualized pay, and how rewards affect individuals' feelings, work performance, and desire to remain with the organization or company (Vartiainen et al., 2008). Another seemingly relevant question that has only received limited attention in earlier research concerns what the consequences might be when the individualized pay-setting process is not perceived to be fair, either on the whole or because it is favoring certain groups over others.

Aims

Consisting of three individual studies, this thesis focuses on the various subjective perceptions that arise in conjunction with individualized pay setting. The overall aim is to examine factors, primarily regarding the work climate and the pay-setting process, which may influence employees' pay perceptions. The possible predictors and effects of fairness perceptions are

investigated, and a descriptive analysis is presented of how women and men perceive some of the aspects of individualized pay setting.

Among employers who utilize the individualized pay system, there is a presumption that it has a motivational effect on employees. In order for such an effect to occur, however, those who are involved in the pay-setting process must not only be accepting of it, but must also see a connection between their pay raises and their performance. Since attitudes are shaped by both the individual and the situation, it is important to consider the impact that individual factors – as well as factors related to the pay-setting process and to work content – have on employees' pay perceptions. These pay perceptions may take the form of more general attitudes toward the pay system itself or of specific attitudes toward individuals' financial outcomes. Thus, the aim of the first study of this thesis is to explore some of the key factors that may influence pay perceptions.

For a pay system to work properly, it has to be perceived as fair by those who are a part of it. This may be of particular importance when it comes to the subjective elements of individualized pay setting (e.g., the supervisor's evaluation of work performance, the experience of being evaluated). Very few studies, however, have investigated the factors that may predict employees' justice perceptions regarding individualized pay setting, or examined whether there is a relation between pay justice and employee commitment, satisfaction or the desire to remain with the organization. The aim of the second study of this thesis is twofold. An examination is first conducted of how employees' work climate and elements of the individualized pay-setting process are related to their pay justice perceptions. This is followed by an exploration of whether these perceptions of pay justice influence employees' general work-related attitudes and behavior, and was accomplished by testing whether the justice perceptions of employees had a mediating effect on work and pay satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intentions, and performance.

Within any context, as well as for the pay-setting context, conscious and subconscious notions about the inherent characteristics and qualifications of individuals are to a certain extent based on their sex. The question of the degree of pay equality existing (or not existing) between women and men is one of constant interest. Previous studies have observed that there are numerous prejudices and notions concerning how women and men act and ought to act at the workplace. In addition, individuals experience things in different ways depending on the circumstances that have shaped their lives. The aim of the third study of this thesis is to examine how women and men view various aspects of individualized pay setting and, in particular, their perceptions of pay-related gender equality.

Attitudes towards pay and their links to motivation

Rewarding individuals on the basis of their work performance can be seen as an attempt to unite the interests of the employers and employees by offering monetary incentives to encourage greater employee productivity (Deckop, Merriman, & Blau, 2004). But in order for individualized pay to be construed as an incentive by employees, they should have a positive attitude towards such a pay system in general and view it as something worth having. Attitudes can be said to be the perceptions that individuals have of the world around them, for example, in respect to other people, physical objects, a phenomenon, or a policy (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977, 1980). Actions are influenced by how people think about various phenomena and the attitudes they have toward their surroundings (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977, 1980) – and this is no less true in the context of pay setting. To have positive attitudes can serve to motivate employees to act in certain ways, such as increasing their work effort and work results (e.g., James, Hater, Gent, & Bruni, 1977; Lawler, Hall, & Oldham, 1974; Mamman, 1997; Parker et al., 2003).

For many years organizational researchers have been trying to determine what kinds of factors can motivate employees to act and perform well (Pfeffer, 1997). Several theories posit that motivation is primarily generated by rewarding or punishing an individual's behavior in accordance with whatever the behaviors are that the supervisor or organization wishes to reinforce or discourage. Reinforcement theories concern an individual's ability to associate an expressed behavior with its consequences. According to these theories, there are two types of factors that are held to influence individuals' voluntary behavior: antecedents, which are the events and conditions in effect prior to the behavior and consequences, which are what arise after the behavior (Honig & Stadden, 1977; Huczynski & Buchanan, 1991; Skinner, 1974). Antecedents, according to Komaki (1986), can consist of information that has been given, while consequences can take the form of granted, or withheld, rewards. Employers make use of instructions, rules, and goals not only to clarify what expectations are being put on the employee's performance, but also to specify the connection between behavior and rewards, and/or to signal on what occasions the rewards are most likely to be granted depending on the individual's behavior (Komaki, 1986). According to reinforcement theories, individualized pay can work as an incentive for employees: when employees are informed that a certain behavior is to result in a reward, such as a pay increase (the antecedent), they may alter or increase their work performance in order to earn the reward (the consequence). Such theories, however, do not attempt to clarify what transpires in between the antecedent and the consequence: what the individual perceives that he or she needs, expects, values, or wants is not explained – despite the fact that these factors should impact the motivational effect of the reward.

A theory that looks more closely at antecedents and consequences and their relationship with human behavior is expectancy theory (Vroom, 1964). By trying to explain what role individuals' expectations can have in relation to motivation, expectancy theory has been successfully used to understand behavior in a large variety of organizational settings. This theory presents a general framework for the assessment and evaluation of employees' behavior, including an investigation into how attitudes are formed. In this theory the impetus behind behavior is held to be a function of three appraisals: (1) expectancy – the probability of effort resulting in sufficient performance, (2) instrumentality – the probability that performance will be rewarded and (3) valence - the reward in question should be desired and sought after by the receiver (Donnelly, Gibson, & Ivancevich, 1987; Vroom, 1964). Valence can also be seen as having similarities with value theories (Locke, 1976) which postulate that employees compare their subjective perceptions of, for example, their pay, benefits, and working conditions with what they want, value, and desire when deciding how satisfied they are with their work and its outcomes. Empirical investigations have shown, in accordance with expectancy theory, that employees usually perceive the rewards as more desirable when they have received sufficient information about the pay system and have an understanding of how it works (Mulvey, LeBlanc, Heneman, & McInerney, 2002).

According to equity theory (Adams, 1965), motivation arises after employees conduct an evaluation of how their own, and others' apparent, work-related outcomes (e.g., in terms of pay, prestige, and other benefits and rewards) compare to the believed or apparent input and contributions that they and others have made at work (e.g., in terms of effort, time spent, and abilities exercised). Such evaluations are highly subjective in nature and do not necessarily reflect the actual conditions. If employees believe that there is an imbalance between their input and their outcomes, in comparison to their colleagues, it can be a catalyst for either motivation or demotivation.

These theories contribute to our understanding of how people's subjective perceptions in matters of pay may lead them to have different pay attitudes, which in turn could have an impact on their work satisfaction and motivation.

Pay attitudes

There are a number of attitudes that are relevant in the pay-setting context, including, for example, employees' general attitudes towards the pay-setting system itself and how it functions. Pay attitudes can also concern how satisfied employees are with their earnings and whether they perceive that their pay is commensurate with their work (Mieceli & Lane, 1991). These attitudes, when taken together, give a general impression of how employees feel about their overall pay situation, which can have an impact on their motivation, effort and efficiency at work (Katzell & Thompson, 1990; Vroom, 1964; Williams & Levy, 2000).

With the trend towards greater individualization that has been occurring in Swedish society (Andersen, 1997), a growing number of employees have begun to look positively upon individualized pay as a phenomenon (Wallenberg, 2000). Not everyone, however, feels similarly when it comes to individualized pay setting. Employees will either approve of or dislike the pay system as a whole, and they may have other opinions about how pay raises are best determined. For example, it is quite possible for employees to have a positive attitude towards their work results being evaluated on an individual basis and to appreciate being allowed to discuss their results with the supervisor, which is typical in an individualized pay-setting system, and to at the same time prefer that their pay raises are settled at a more central level by labor market parties and regulated by collective agreements, in accordance with more traditional pay systems (Cable & Judge, 1994). The level at which employees prefer their pay raises to be negotiated, whether it be at the local level, for example, with the pay-setting supervisor, or at the more traditional, central level is an important aspect of employee attitudes towards individualized pay setting as a whole (Wagner & Moch, 1986). It is, however, important to not only investigate employees' attitudes towards the pay system itself, but to also investigate their attitudes towards their personal earnings, since both of these aspects may influence each other as well as affect employee motivation.

One of the perhaps most investigated pay-related attitudes that concerns employee earnings is pay satisfaction. It has been defined as the sum of the feelings that an employee has in regard to his or her overall pay, pay raises, and benefits (Judge & Welbourne, 1994; Miceli & Lane, 1991). How positively or negatively employees view their organization's pay policies and how the pay system operates have been found to be related to pay satisfaction (Dyer & Theriault, 1976). If employees are satisfied with what they receive, it can lead to an increased sense of work motivation and inspire them to continue to achieve good work results in the future. Investigations have shown that employees' degree of satisfaction with the compensation they receive is related to both their current behavior as well as their subsequent adjustments in behavior (Deckop, 1992). Perceptions of pay

equity represent another important factor in regard to pay. Employees consider it important to know how their pay compares to that of their coworkers (Adams, 1965). This interest results in employees frequently examining their supervisor's behavior towards other employees as they evaluate how they themselves are treated and compensated in comparison to their colleagues. By this means, important information is gained in regard to their position within the work group (Greenberg et al., 2007; Lind & Tyler, 1988). According to earlier studies on pay equity, when employees perceive that their work results are justly rewarded, it can positively influence certain behaviors, such as work effort (Williams et al., 2006) and efficiency (Meterko et al., 2006). Conversely, employees who perceive that they are not paid enough for their work may wish to balance the relationship simply by decreasing their efforts and their work results (Adams, 1965).

Predicting pay attitudes

Although research on the interrelation among compensation systems and various work characteristics has been quite limited (Campion & Berger, 1990; Kohn, 2001; Vartiainen et al., 2008), it is likely that employees' attitudes towards the individualized pay-setting system and their own earnings can be influenced by a number of organizational circumstances. These circumstances may include employees' perceptions of how the pay-setting process operates as well as their attitudes towards the design of the evaluation system (Ryan, Schmit, & Johnson, 1996; Williams & Levy, 2000), or their working conditions. It is therefore important to investigate these circumstances from a broad perspective (Montemayor, 1995).

Demographics

Individual characteristics have been found to relate to employee perceptions of their pay and the pay system itself. Previous studies have, for instance, observed that older employees with long tenure are more likely to expect higher pay raises and to consider themselves more deserving of higher pay raises than their younger colleagues (Lawler, 1971; Mamman, 1997; Miceli & Lane, 1991). Older employees have in earlier research also been found to have more skeptical views of individualized pay than of traditional pay systems (Lawler, 1971; Wallenberg, 2000; Williams et al., 2006). This may be explained by the fact that older employees more often have longer tenure as well as accumulated experience, and therefore tend to be rewarded more than their younger counterparts in traditional pay-setting systems (Pfeffer, 2001). With individualized pay setting, however, competence, work results, leadership and cooperation skills are usually rewarded rather than age and experience. This can lead to older employees and those with long tenure

feeling that they are not adequately recognized and rewarded for their experience and maturity, and they may therefore become negatively disposed to individualized pay setting. Another potentially influential factor is gender, since several studies have found that the way women and men are treated in matters concerning pay and rewards differs (Barron, 2003; National Mediation Office, 2008). Women usually hold more positive attitudes toward pay and report higher levels of pay satisfaction and equality (Williams et al., 2006). The gender aspect of pay will be further explored later in this thesis.

Work environment

When it comes to factors relating to the work environment, there are a number of circumstances that can influence the pay attitudes of employees. One such factor is job satisfaction, which stems from the relatively stable evaluations that employees normally make in respect to how well their work fulfills their expectations, wishes, and needs (Locke, 1976). Previous studies have shown that positive perceptions of the work generally being satisfying can lead to a higher degree of pay satisfaction (Quarstein, McAfee, & Glassman, 1992).

One of the perhaps most consequential factors for influencing pay attitudes is feedback. To receive feedback on work progress is essential for employees since it gives them the pointers they need to later adjust their work efforts in order to more satisfactorily fulfill the pay criteria, if they so wish (Heneman, Porter, Greenberger, & Strasser, 1997; Mulvey et al., 2002). Previous investigations have found that when employees receive adequate performance feedback, their expectations about how much compensation they should receive become more realistic. Having realistic expectations in regard to pay outcomes has, in turn, been found to decrease employees' dissatisfaction with their pay (Williams et al., 2006). Relatedly, increased performance feedback may have a positive relation to pay satisfaction, according to other studies (Mulvey et al., 2002; Sweins & Kalmi, 2008).

Another important factor is role overload, which is experienced when employees feel that they do not have enough time to carry out their work satisfactorily (Beehr, Walsh, & Taber, 1976). It is plausible that employees who perceive that they have a high workload would consider an individualized pay system to be more attractive, since such a system should entail that hard work is linked to greater rewards (Daly & Geyer, 1994). If the employees, on the other hand, are disappointed over an expected pay raise because it did not match what they believed they deserved for their work efforts, it can have a negative effect on their attitudes towards the pay system (Rice, Phillips, & McFarlin, 1990). It is also possible that employees who feel that they are already working near their maximum capacity and thus cannot increase their efforts more than marginally will have a more

difficult time fulfilling certain pay criteria and receiving further pay raises, which may end up giving them a less positive opinion of the pay system.

Also of importance for pay attitudes is the degree of autonomy employees perceive they have in their work, which is essentially based on how much influence they feel they have over how the work is organized and carried out (Hackman & Oldham, 1975). Employees who perceive that they have control and are able to organize their work relatively independently would be expected to have more opportunity to direct their efforts towards the goals of the organization and, in so doing, they may be better able to fulfill the pay criteria than those whose work is to a greater extent organized by others. Previous research has also shown that a high degree of control can be of importance for employees' pay attitudes, in terms of what type of pay-setting system they prefer (Farh, Griffeth, & Balkin, 1991). Employees who have work tasks in which they have a high degree of autonomy have been found to be more positive towards individualized pay setting (Montemayor, 1995) as well as more satisfied with their pay (Williams et al., 2006).

Another important factor is job challenge, which refers to the degree to which employees perceive that their work is both intellectually challenging and varying in terms of kinds of work tasks (Hellgren, Sjöberg, & Sverke, 1997). One of the reasons why work characteristics such as job challenge have been found to contribute to the job satisfaction of employees (e.g., Dierdorff & Surface, 2008; Hackman & Oldham, 1975) may be that employees become inspired to perform better when their work involves learning new things and developing skills (Brown & Leigh, 1996). In other investigations, employees who work in enriched jobs have been found to receive more pay because of their increased responsibilities and skills (Bunning, 1992; Locke, Sirota, & Wolfson, 1976). Furthermore, employees whose jobs offer challenging and varying work content have often been observed to perceive a clear link between their personal competence and pay raises (Dierdorff & Surface, 2008).

Pay and performance-related factors

When it comes to pay, employees cannot help but comparing themselves with each other (Pfeffer, 1997). Such comparisons often concern how employees believe their own performance stacks up against that of their coworkers with comparable work tasks. If everyone's work results were of the same high quality, there would be no point in utilizing individually based pay setting, since every employee would deserve to receive the same size pay raise. But if employees find that there are performance differences among the employees, they tend to have a positive view of individualized pay, since it allows for distinctions to be made among the performances, and efforts and results are rewarded to a greater extent than in a traditional pay system (Lawler, 1971). However, in order for employees to have positive

attitudes towards individualized pay, they must feel that the differences between employee performances are actually being noticed by those who are in charge of pay setting and that they are receiving differentiated pay raises (Mannheim & Angel, 1986).

Several investigations have found that having a strong connection between performance and pay, known as "line of sight" (Heneman, Ledford, & Gresham, 2000), can lead to employees being more satisfied with the pay system and their pay, as compared to when the connection is weak and unclear (Lawler, 2000; Miceli & Lane, 1991; Mulvey et al., 2002). Other studies have found that the expectations employees have in regard to this connection may also influence how positive or negative they are towards a pay system, for example, in that they are ready to blame the pay system when they are not rewarded in accordance with their expectations (Williams et al., 2006).

If employees find that differences in employee performances are not reflected in the pay raises received, or that their efforts to improve or alter their work to meet the determined criteria are not rewarded, they will be less satisfied with their overall pay, perceive less equity, and have more negative attitudes towards the entire individualized pay-setting process (Honeywell, Dickinson, & Poling, 1997; Williams et al., 2006). To maintain or create positive attitudes towards individualized pay setting, it is therefore crucial that employees feel convinced that a given behavior will result in a given reward, and that they are made aware of the employer's impression of their performance – which can lead to more realistic expectations about the magnitude of the reward (Lawler, 2000; Miceli & Lane, 1991).

Justice perceptions in regard to individualized pay setting

One of the basic presumptions behind individualized pay setting is that it will lead to increased motivation and work performance among employees, but in order for these expectations to become a reality, it is important that the employees perceive the pay system and the pay distribution process to be fair (Rynes, Gerhart, & Parks, 2005). There are several elements of the individualized pay-setting process that can influence fairness perceptions, including the amount of performance-related feedback employees receive, the clearness of the pay-related criteria and objectives, the competency and propriety of the supervisor's behavior, and the actual pay policies recommended by the organization. Any of these can constitute a potential stumbling block for employers who wish to show that pay and benefits are justly distributed in their organizations. Several studies have found that perceptions of justice are strongly connected to pay or pay raise satisfaction (Folger & Konovsky, 1989; Sweeney & McFarlin, 1993), while others have shown that justice perceptions influence employees' effort and performance at work (Deckop, 1992; Lawler, 1971), and increase employees' organizational commitment and confidence in their supervisor (Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001). The study of pay-related justice can be seen as a part of the larger research area on organizational justice, which has expanded considerably in recent decades (Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001). Payrelated justice encompasses research on how employees perceive their pay in relation to other factors (e.g., how hard they work or what rewards their coworkers receive), how fair the decision-making process or organizational policies are perceived to be, as well as how informative, sincere, and respectful the organization and its representatives act towards the employees (Ambrose, 2002; Colquitt, Conlon, Wesson, Porter, & Ng, 2001).

Why justice perceptions matter

It is clear that justice is of fundamental importance for people, which may be related to the strong feelings that it carries with it (Folger & Schminke, 1998). Lind and Tyler (1988) identified two mechanisms through which justice affects individuals. The first concerns its appeal to self-interest,

which rests on individuals believing that a justly run process (e.g., a paysetting process) is positive insofar as it allows them to maximize their personal gains. The second has a more relational focus and concerns the effects of justice on an individual's status within a group. The fairness of an individual's treatment, especially by a superior, is an expression of how important that individual is for his or her group. Lind and Tyler (1988) emphasize that they did not find any evidence which indicates that either of these mechanisms are more important than the other. Rather, they should be seen as two complementary explanations for why justice is so crucial.

The above would suggest that people feel validated when they are treated in a fair manner and believe that just processes will also lead to just rewards. How individuals determine whether something is "fair" or "unfair" in the first place is naturally of importance in this regard as well. Fairness theory has attempted to specify the conditions and circumstances that can contribute to a situation being characterized as either fair or unfair (Folger & Cropanzano, 1998, 2001). In essence, a person's evaluation of fairness is based on comparisons between the actual situation and any other alternatives that might exist (Folger, 1987). This occurs, for example, when an employee believes that he or she would have received a more just (i.e., higher) pay increase if the pay-setting supervisor had used another type of available evaluation method. This employee, according to fairness theory, would also try to determine if a particular individual could be seen as responsible for what happened. In this example, the employee would have likely chosen the supervisor as the one responsible and gone on to conclude that the supervisor could have given a more deserved pay raise if more appropriate evaluation methods had been chosen. With this, the employee would try to decide whether that supervisor's actions were morally deficient (e.g., by not giving an honest evaluation) or misguided (e.g., if the supervisor had received misinformation about which criteria were to be used).

According to fairness theory, these kinds of fairness judgments are made quickly and automatically, and are rather emotional (Cropanzano, Byrne, Bobocel, & Rupp, 2001). An individual's subjective and emotional experience is central to his or her reactions to lack of fairness (Folger & Cropanzano, 1998). An actual injustice does not have to take place for such reactions to occur; just to perceive that an injustice has occurred is enough to elicit such a reaction. This is in line with the bulk of current research on justice, where the phenomenon usually is described from not only an objective perspective, but also from a subjective perspective that takes individual justice perceptions into account (Colquitt, Greenberg, & Zapata-Phelan, 2005). The rise in the number of studies on how employees are affected by organizational procedures with varying degrees of fairness has increased in recent decades and indicates that this is still an area of great interest (Ambrose, 2002). In order to understand how the concept of organizational justice and the various dimensions of justice came into being,

and how they have been and can be applied in relation to pay, a short historical summary is given below.

Dimensions of justice

Distributive justice

To perform a job and receive compensation for that work are fundamental conditions in the, more or less formalized, agreement that typically exists between employers and employees (Rousseau, 1989). In order for both parties to be satisfied with the agreement, however, the pay must be considered to be commensurate with the performance (Homan, 1961). Accordingly, individuals have an expectation that their efforts will yield proportionate rewards, and when this happens, a sense of (distributive) justice arises. Conversely, when this expectation is not met, a sense of injustice would be expected to arise instead (Homan, 1961). It is, however, difficult to predict whether a person will find a given distribution to be just or unjust since such a perception is based on the individual's subjective interpretation. It is likely the magnitude of employees' expectations that governs the extent of their satisfaction or dissatisfaction experienced after an exchange (Blau, 1964, 1986).

Adams (1963, 1965) called distributive justice pay equity, and defined it as concerning the fact that people want to be rewarded in proportion to what they believe they deserve, according to their performance or what they were previously paid. This may also involve comparisons with what other employees, in the same or in another organization, receive in earnings or as pay raises. Such examinations into equity could, according to Adams (1965), potentially result in feelings of guilt if a person were to conclude that he or she earned more than they deserved, or feelings of anger if they received less than they thought they were worthy of. In either case, if individuals do not believe that they have been treated fairly, they will perceive a state of imbalance, which will produce a certain discomfort and thus prompt them to take some sort of action in order to try to restore balance. For instance, if the employees believe that their pay-raise levels are too low in comparison to their work efforts, they may choose to decrease their work pace in order to feel that the situation is fairly balanced. On the other hand, it could lead certain individuals to increase their work efforts even more in an attempt to recommend themselves for a sought-after pay raise before the next paysetting opportunity. For some, this feeling of imbalance may even result in their terminating the agreement by, for example, obtaining employment elsewhere.

Distributive justice is probably one of the most commonly used measures for trying to evaluate the various aspects of pay justice. This is only natural since this dimension relates to the connection between justice perceptions and financial outcomes. Studies have shown, for example, that distributive justice may be related to employees' pay-raise satisfaction (Folger & Konovsky, 1989). In general, a person's sense of satisfaction is likely to depend on what the object of comparison is, as different objects will likely lead to different emotional outcomes (Landy, 1985; Locke, 1976). To compare one's pay with that of one's assistant would likely produce a different justice perception than if the comparison had been with the manager's pay, for example. An individual's degree of satisfaction with a result, such as a pay raise, can therefore be regarded as more of a relative than an absolute phenomenon (Blau, 1964, 1986).

Procedural justice

In the mid-1970s researchers began to explore how important the processes (rules, policies, norms) that regulate the distribution of rewards were for individuals' justice perceptions (Deutsch, 1975). Thibaut and Walker (1975) coined the term "procedural justice" after finding that participation in the decision-making process and influence over the outcome were important factors for whether employees considered the process to be fair. They found, in accordance with research on outcome fairness, that justice depends largely on what is perceived to be just. But, in order for a process to be perceived as just, it typically has to fulfill a number or criteria (Leventhal, 1980): (1) consistency, by being stable and not favoring anyone; (2) bias suppression, by excluding any built in biases; (3) accuracy of information, by being based on correct information and knowledge; (4) correctability, by being unequivocal as well as revisable if needed; (5) representability, by representing the views of the individuals it concerns, and (6) morality, by upholding acceptable ethical and moral values.

These six criteria are likely to be of relevance if the distribution of rewards is to be perceived as being just by those affected (Leventhal, 1980). Those procedures which concern how pay setting within an organization is to occur can give rise to several types of justice perceptions among employees. For example, perceptions of procedural justice have been shown to relate to organizational citizenship behavior (Aquino, 1995), supervisory satisfaction (DeConinck & Stilwell, 2004), pay system acceptance (Cloutier & Vilhuber, 2008), and pay satisfaction (Leliveld, van Beest, van Dijk, & Tenbrunsel, 2009). It has also been observed that apparently unfavorable pay-related decisions, which could be perceived as unfair by employees, do not evoke the same degree of negative reaction from employees if the process leading up to the decisions is perceived to be fair (Cohen-Carash & Spector, 2001).

This seems to indicate that the degree of perceived justice is greater for those employees who believe that the decision does not favor anyone in particular, that they have received sufficient reasons for why the decision had to be made, and that the information about it was honest and correct. In other words, it is not only the receiving of a satisfactory pay raise that can impact justice perceptions, but also whether the process surrounding it is seen as fair.

Interactional justice

In the mid-1980s a study was conducted on how social interaction affects justice perceptions, and this phenomenon came to be termed interactional justice (Bies & Moag, 1986). Bies and Moag (1986) identified four main factors that can affect whether employees perceive that they have been treated fairly by their supervisors: (1) respect, concerning the degree of dignity and credibility shown by the supervisor; (2) propriety, regarding the appropriateness or prejudice of the supervisor's comments; (3) justification, with regard to the adequacy of the reasons provided for the decisions that are made; and (4) truthfulness, regarding the accuracy and frankness of any reasons or explanations given by the supervisor. This suggests that in order for supervisors to appear fair, they should be open and honest, and provide adequate and sufficient information about the reasons behind their decisions, so that they are not suspected of being deceitful or discriminatory. Supervisors should also act respectfully and treat the employees with dignity and avoid making indecent, prejudiced, or inappropriate comments. Perceptions of interactional justice have in earlier research been connected to employees' organizational citizenship behavior (Rupp & Cropanzano, 2002), trust in management, organizational commitment (Barling & Phillips, 1993), and trust in supervisors (Aryee, Budhwar, & Chen, 2002), as well as their views on supervisor legitimacy (Masterson, Lewis, Goldman, & Taylor, 2000), feedback processes (Baron, 1988), workplace revenge (Bies & Tripp, 1995, 2002) and workplace sabotage (Ambrose, Seabright, & Schminke, 2002).

In the 1990s it was proposed that the dimension of interactional justice should be divided into two separate dimensions – interpersonal justice and informational justice (Greenberg, 1993a). Greenberg argued that the concept of interactional justice actually applied to the measuring of two distinct things, and that the original four factors (respect, propriety, truthfulness, and justification) should be separated into these two new dimensions. He claimed that interpersonal justice concerned the aspects of respect and propriety and that truthfulness and justification related to informational justice (Greenberg, 1990). During the individualized pay-setting process these four factors come directly into play when employees and their supervisors meet together to discuss matters relating to work performance and potential raises, such as the

employee's recent work output and his or her other personal assets. Informational and interpersonal justice are therefore evaluated by employees, in principle, at every meeting with a supervisor (Bies, 2005).

Informational justice

If employees are to perceive that a pay-setting process is just, supervisors should be able to provide explanations for their pay-raise decisions that seem reasonable and credible to the employees (Greenberg, 1993b). In addition to this, employees need to feel that the given explanations and information in connection to pay decisions is sufficient. It is important that employees have confidence in their management in order for their decisions to be seen as fair (Ambrose, 2002; Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001). This also applies to unfavorable pay-related decisions such as pay freezes, since it has been found that employees view such decisions as more fair when they receive justifiable explanations for why they were made (Schaubroeck et al., 1994).

Interpersonal justice

The pay-setting process, as mentioned earlier, involves a number of occasions where employees meet and communicate with their supervisors. These may be in the form of formal meetings, such as the performance review, or they may occur more spontaneously, such as when feedback is given on a work task. Whether it be in connection with the former or the latter, employees continually evaluate how they are treated by their supervisors. It is important that employees believe that they are being treated with respect and dignity by their supervisors, especially considering the fact that disrespect is a central factor in the analysis of the psychology of injustice (Miller, 2001). Above all, inappropriate or prejudiced comments are perceived by employees to be strongly insulting (Tepper, 2000). Being treated with respect increases employees' self-esteem and gives them a feeling of being valued within their group (Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001).

The four justice dimensions put into practice

The notion that justice is comprised of four distinct dimensions has received empirical support in recent years. Confirmatory factor analysis has demonstrated that the four dimensions do measure different aspects (e.g., Colquitt, 2001; Colquitt et al., 2001; Judge & Colquitt, 2004; Kernan & Hanges, 2002; Shapiro, Buttner, & Barry, 1994). Though many studies have been conducted within the area of organizational justice, there is still no unified concept of justice which applies to employee justice perceptions relating to the work environment; instead, the concept of justice is divided into the various already described dimensions (distributive, procedural, and

interactional/informational and interpersonal justice). Most empirical studies have therefore utilized differing sets of justice measures by selecting from among those which represent the dimensions that, at the time, are believed to be most valid for the phenomenon (Ambrose, 2002; Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001; Colquitt, 2001). Very few studies have attempted to examine organizational phenomena using all four of the justice dimensions, and hardly any have utilized them to study the area of pay. This seems to indicate that there is still a good amount of disagreement among researchers on the precise nature of justice at the workplace, and may furthermore be a consequence of the fact that the area of organizational justice does not have an accepted comprehensive theory to turn to (Latham & Pinder, 2005). This lack of consensus demonstrates that more attention needs to be paid to determining which work- and pay-related factors are related to the four dimensions of justice, which entails looking at what consequences individuals' perceptions of whether something is just or not, in respect to pay, may lead to and then exploring what the conditions are in the work environment that shape these perceptions.

Predicting perceptions of pay justice

Many of the studies on organizational justice have shown that it is primarily factors in the employees' surroundings which influence their experiencing of justice (Pfeffer, 1997). This would suggest that an individual's perceptions of justice in respect to the individual pay-setting process are shaped by factors at the workplace, including those that relate to the interactions between supervisors and employees.

Since one's pay and, thereby, the system it is based on are both of great consequence to most employees, it is not difficult to accept that one's pay level has a role in how just a pay system is perceived to be (Greenberg & Lind, 2000). Although, the impact of monetary rewards in comparison to the effects other work-related factors have on pay attitudes will probably vary depending on what individuals prioritize. Those of different demographic groups, for instance, have been found to prioritize different justice issues (Brockner & Adsit, 1986). The degree of pay justice perceived by individuals of certain occupational groups would likely differ depending on whether, and to what extent, they believe that the pay system is favorable or unfavorable to them as a member of this group. It has also been shown that women and men may react in different ways in connection with the paysetting process (Kaman & Hartel, 1994; Small, Babcock, Gelfand, & Gettman, 2007).

There are also a number of factors in the work climate that are associated with employees' perceptions of justice (Colquitt, Greenberg, & Zapata-Phelan, 2005). An important aspect of individualized pay setting is that the

employee's performance is evaluated by someone else, the pay-setting supervisor (Pfeffer, 1997). In order for employees to be able to perform at a level or in a manner which will ultimately lead to a pay raise, they need to not only be aware of which pay criteria are prioritized by their organization (Daly & Geyer, 1994; Ilgen, Major, & Tower, 1994), but also need to receive regular feedback from the supervisor on how well their work is progressing. This would allow employees the opportunity to alter their work efforts if so desired (Schaubroeck et al., 1994). Receiving clear and sufficient information in connection with pay-related decisions tends to be important for employees' perceptions of justice in respect to the pay-setting process as well as the pay policies behind it (Bies & Moag, 1986; Colquitt & Chertkoff, 2002). But if the fulfillment of the expected goals or the previously determined pay criteria is to be a real possibility for employees, they must have the ability and leverage necessary to pursue them (Mueller, Iverson, & Jo, 1999), as well as a workload that suits the given work demands (Hackman & Oldham, 1976).

Communication between supervisors and their employees can be facilitated by the setting up of regularly scheduled performance reviews in which subjects such as an employee's work performance and various payrelated decisions are discussed. Some employees may feel uncomfortable about being evaluated in such a meeting (Weiss & Cropanzano, 1996). With individualized pay setting, in contrast to many traditional pay systems, interpersonal interaction between supervisor and employee is fundamental to the process, which may increase the likelihood of disagreement and potentially turn it into a breeding ground for perceptions of unfair treatment (Kohn, 2001). The experiencing of some sort of pay-related discrimination (e.g., in regard to receiving a lower pay than expected) may also affect an employee's perceptions of justice. For example, there are studies which indicate that men receive preferential treatment, are more demanding, and achieve better results than women from pay discussions (Barron, 2003). A number of studies have found that men typically earn more than women, which shows that pay levels are not yet equal between the genders (National Mediation Office, 2008; OECD, 2007). If the opportunities or chances of being successful in the pay-setting arena are not the same for women and men, it may likely affect their perceptions of fairness.

Consequences of (in)justice

Everyone carries with them their own set of prior experiences, and these experiences affect our views on what is fair and unfair (Weiss, Suckow, & Cropanzano, 1999). Because of this, different individuals may reach quite different conclusions about the very same outcome. The various dimensions of justice have been observed to relate to different outcomes. Distributive

and procedural justice have, for example, been shown to have relatively strong positive relations to job satisfaction (Colquitt et al., 2001), organizational commitment (Ambrose, 2002; Cohen-Charash & Spector, 2001), and pay satisfaction (Folger & Konovsky, 1989; Sweeney & McFarlin, 1993). Low levels of interpersonal and informational justice have, on the other hand, been found to lead to more negative outcomes such as withdrawal and other negative reactions (Colquitt et al., 2001; Greenberg, 1990). Previous studies have observed that unfair treatment is strongly related to attitudes, emotions, and behavior (e.g., Barclay, Skarlicki, & Pugh, 2005; Colquitt et al., 2001; Tyler & Lind, 1992). The experiencing of injustice can, for example, bring about any of a number of negative emotions, including disappointment, anger, and jealousy (Mikula, Scherer, & Athenstaedt, 1998). These reactions, in turn, can prompt individuals to take some sort of harmful action against the organization (e.g., Greenberg, 1993b; Skarlicki & Folger, 1997). In a study by Ambrose, Seabright, and Schminke (2002), for instance, individuals who believed that they had been unjustly treated at work sometimes sought revenge by engaging in sabotage or stealing. In the earlier literature, much of the focus is on the effects of insufficient organizational justice, since perceived injustice leads to much stronger responses than perceived justice appears to (Folger, Cropanzano, & Goldman, 2005).

For employees, their own financial outcomes and the pay-setting process are two related areas that tend to raise strong emotions (Pfeffer, 1997). It has been argued, for example, in discussions on expectancy theory (Vroom, 1964) and equity theory (Adams, 1965), that the pay distribution process in organizations and the financial outcome can have an influence on employees' work motivation, a notion which has also received support in more recent studies (Porter, Bigley, & Steers, 2003).

It is highly likely that a pay-setting process that is believed to be unjust could have a negative effect on employee motivation. Work motivation can manifest itself in a number of different ways, such as in the quality of work performance, the amount of effort put into work assignments, how well instructions are followed, and the degree of cooperation exhibited. Since these are aspects which could typically be taken into account in the pay-related criteria of an individual pay-setting process, unmotivated employees may find their future pay raises affected if they do poorly in respect to these aspects. It is therefore important that individuals maintain their motivation in order for this type of pay system to work as intended.

When there is a lack of justice regarding the method of pay setting, as with inequitable pay raises or biased methods of work performance evaluation, employees may end up becoming more inclined to quit (Tekleab, Bartol, & Liu, 2005). Insufficient pay justice has also been observed to lead to health-related consequences in that lower levels of pay justice resulted in greater worry as well as sleep difficulties among the employees (Greenberg,

2006). Furthermore, not receiving the salary or wages that one believes is deserved, that is, experiencing low pay equity, has been observed to increase the extent of emotional exhaustion experienced by certain employees, which was then found to lead to a variety of emotional and psychological symptoms (Brotheridge, 2003).

While the purpose of this thesis is to study perceptions of justice rather than injustice, previous studies on the consequences of unfair employee treatment are still helpful for showing the effects of such treatment and how important it ought to be for organizations to try to create and uphold policies and norms that are perceived as just. Justice is a fundamental value for most people, which likely explains why deviations from it are so upsetting. Altogether, it can be concluded that when employees are unfairly treated, the responses that emerge are emotional (e.g., as in low commitment), behavioral (e.g., in the form of revenge or quitting), and health-related (e.g., as in lower well-being) in nature.

Individualized pay setting and gender equality

When the subject of pay-related discrimination is mentioned, it usually concerns the unreasonable differences in pay level that exist between women similar backgrounds, who have levels of experience, compentencies, and skills etc., but who are not treated equally in respect to pay or given equal opportunity (Barron, 2003; Tharenou, 1999). Pay-related equality is lacking across the world, as men generally receive up to 20 percent more in pay than women (OECD, 2005, 2007). In respect to Sweden, the National Mediation Office (2008) reports that the pay differences between the genders is still between approximately 5 and 15 percent, to the advantage of men. While some justifiable pay differences, based on various background factors, such as education and competence, account for some of the differences in pay, there still remains a discrepancy of several percentage points between the earnings of men and women that cannot be explained by taking such relevant factors into consideration (National Mediation Office, 2008; OECD, 2005). One of the most common explanations for why the pay differences between women and men remain is that they are the result of, more or less conscious, acts of discrimination against women (e.g., Acker, 1991; Ayres & Siegelman, 1995; Barron, 2003; Hultin & Szulkin, 1999; Ljunglöf & Pokarzhevskaya, 2009; Stroh, Brett, & Reilly, 1993).

Individualized pay systems are meant to give all employees the same opportunity to present their skills and accomplishments in the context of a performance review, as well as the opportunity to adjust their work performance in order to meet the determined pay criteria and organizational goals. If women's and men's perceptions differ, not only in regard to how well the system is functioning overall, but also in regard to how well they themselves are functioning within the pay-setting system, it may likely affect their attitudes and behavior – and even their financial outcomes in the long run (Major, Vanderslice, & McFarlin, 1984). Earlier studies on pay setting have observed differences between how women and men are judged at work (Olsson, 1999; Stroh et al., 1993), how they are able to (or wish to) promote themselves (Eagly, Mahijani, & Klonsky, 1992; Hultin, 2003), how they prioritize promotions and pay raises (Barron, 2003), and also found that women and men differ in their expectations about what level of pay or pay increase they deserve or are going to receive (Hojat et al., 2000; Kaman & Hartel, 1994). All of this suggests that women and men may very well act in different ways in connection with individualized pay setting and may have differing experiences of the same pay system. It is also possible that there are certain inherent aspects of the individual pay-setting process that are more disadvantageous for one gender than the other or that the pay system on the whole contains various biases. When the pay-setting process is conducted in a way that discriminates against certain individuals or groups, the work motivation and work interest of employees decreases (Amabile, 2001; Kohari & Lord, 2007; Porter et al., 2003; Wolters, 2001), which can result in employees quitting their employment (Jones, 1998; Tekleab et al., 2005). It is naturally of importance to recognize the pay differences that exist, but it is just as important that we increase our knowledge about women's and men's perceptions of the pay-setting process.

To obtain a more comprehensive picture of how women's and men's perceptions can manifest themselves in connection with the individualized pay-setting process, it is essential to study these perceptions from a wide perspective. This may include examining the degrees to which women and men are aware of the organization's pay-related goals, policies, and criteria, how strongly they perceive the relation between performance and pay is, and how positive or negative their attitudes are towards the individualized pay system. Opinions towards individualized pay setting could, for example, be influenced by whether women and men believe that pay-related gender equality exists at their workplace and whether they are granted equal opportunity to benefit from such a pay system.

Organizational goals, policies, and pay criteria

A number of studies have demonstrated that, while the specific goals, pay criteria, and policies of an organization may vary, all of them need to be realistic and employees must be aware of them in order for their fulfillment to be feasible (e.g., Daly & Geyer, 1994; Locke & Latham, 2002). This knowledge gives employees insight into what the organization values and considers important. The employees will then most likely aim their efforts in the expressed direction, which would mean that goal setting is functioning very much like an incentive (Locke & Latham, 2002; Pfeffer, 1997).

During performance reviews, pay-setting supervisors are given the opportunity to communicate the views of the organization (Folger & Konovsky, 1989; Granqvist & Regnér, 2008). But what happens if different individuals perceive and understand the information given in different ways? There are, for example, studies that indicate that women and men do not take in information in the same way due, in part, to their differing areas of interest (McKelvie, Standing, St. Jean, & Law, 1993; Tannenbaum & Leaper, 2003). This could lead to their focusing on different aspects of the information presented, and the same information may be remembered differently (McKelvie et al., 1993). The tendency for such differentiation to

occur has also been observed in investigations which found that women performed better than men when it came to remembering and identifying romantically formulated sentences that had been presented to them, while the men were better at remembering and identifying erotically formulated sentences (Geer & McGlone, 1990). Earlier research has also shown that women are better than men at naming various fruits, while the results were the opposite when the objects to be named were tools (Capitani, Laiacona, Barbarotto, & Cossa, 1999).

Performance reviews typically involve a discussion about an employee's performance in terms of how well he or she is meeting the previously decided goals and criteria. However, if women and men to a certain degree prioritize different things, they can end up working towards different objectives. Regarding the differences in work-related interests between women and men, previous studies have shown that women prioritize the more social and intrinsic aspects of their job (e.g., having a meaningful employment, good relationships with co-workers, a supportive atmosphere, and a good work-family balance), while men to a greater extent prefer more extrinsic rewards (e.g., opportunities for advancement) (Jackson, 1989; Tolbert & Moen, 1998). Women and men also seem to prioritize the sizes of their financial outcomes somewhat differently. Financial reward seems to be of more importance to men, especially when it is a question of receiving greater earnings than their colleagues – since men see their pay level as an employer's indication of their worth as a human being (Barron, 2003). Women, on the other hand, rarely believe that earning more than their colleagues is important, that is, as long as they do not earn less than their colleagues, which can evoke a feeling of inferiority (Alsterdal & Wallenberg, 2005). If the interests of women and men differ, as McKelvie et al. (1993) suggest, and they receive information and interpret and/or evaluate the pay criteria or goals differently, it could lead to women and men acting and focusing their efforts in different directions. Previous research has shown that women and men are often not rewarded on the same basis (Eagly & Sczesny, 2009; Olsson, 1999) and therefore end up obtaining differing financial outcomes (Steele, 1997).

Gender differences and equality in respect to pay setting

According to the literature, certain conditions must be met in order for individualized pay setting to function satisfactorily. It has, for example, been shown that it is important that employees believe that differences in performance should be reflected by pay differences, that employees' pay reflects their work effort, that employees in fact can affect their pay by altering their performance and, last but not least, that their pay is contingent on how well they perform according to the pre-set pay criteria (Jenkins,

Mitra, Gupta, & Shaw, 1998; Pfeffer, 1997). Previous studies have found that employees are less willing to exert themselves if the connection between pay and performance is missing or weak, since their efforts would not lead to desirable results (Kohn, 2001; Pfeffer, 2001). If one gender believes that their ability to produce good work results is better than that of the other gender, their degree of satisfaction with their pay raises or pay situation in general may even vary.

The degree of confidence individuals have in their own capacity to do what they have set out to do, known as self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997), has been found to have an impact on individuals' career decisions and achievements (Mizell, 1999). Self-efficacy may also affect individuals' notions of how large of a pay raise they believe they are entitled to, as well as have an effect on the degree of self-confidence that lies behind the arguments that employees present during pay discussions. It has been shown that men's self-rated performance and self-efficacy tend to be greater than women's, which is attributed to how the genders are socialized into their respective gender roles (e.g., Bandura, 1997; Gecas, 1989). During their upbringing, males are to a greater extent encouraged to become more instrumental and task-oriented by developing their agentic qualities, which include self-assertiveness, self-expression, and the desire to control things. Women, on the other hand, develop more communal qualities (known as social-emotional or expressive qualities), which include selflessness, having consideration for others, and wishing to be in agreement with others (Lueptow, 2005).

Behaviors are often classified as either typically female or typically male, and stereotypically female qualities are rated lower than stereotypically male qualities (Eagly & Sczesny, 2009). Accordingly, the sexes are judged differently and also act differently in a given situation, based on the external (the surroundings') and internal (the individual's own) expectations that apply to how women and men should behave in various contexts (Eagly, 1987; Eagly & Sczesny, 2009). Previous research has, for example, shown that men are expected to not only be more competitive and proactive than women, but also more goal-oriented and self-promoting (Kray, Galinsky, & Thompson, 2001). Other research has found that women, on the other hand, are expected to be more unselfish, as well as social and group-oriented to a greater extent (Eagly, Makhijani, & Klonsky, 1992). Such differences in how the sexes are expected to behave would be likely to have an impact on the outcomes from an individualized pay system in which each individual is expected to promote themselves and their own merits in order to obtain pay raises.

Studies have found that employees in less powerful positions are often more reluctant, than those who have more power, to participate in meetings in which discord could potentially result or in which they would have to try to get something from someone else, such as a pay raise (Morand, 2000).

This hesitancy to take part in such meetings may perhaps apply to women and performance reviews, since men generally are more powerful and hold higher status positions in society than women (Brown, 1979; Mählck, 2001, 2004). Male attributes are also associated with high status and greater competence (Olsson, 1999). There are investigations which show that individuals with high status are expected to be more competent, to be better performers, and to possess a greater number of appealing attributes than low status individuals. High status individuals also receive more opportunities to perform well and are therefore more influential (cf. Hultin & Szulkin, 2003; Berger, Rosenholtz, & Zelditch, 1980). Support for this has been found in a number of studies in which the men were considered to be more competent and their performance to be of more value, compared to the women (see, e.g., Biernat, 2003; Olsson, 1999). In addition, previous research has shown that men more often judge themselves to be capable of performing better than do women. Accordingly, this might lead men to believe that they deserve higher pay, which studies have also shown to be the case (Herman & Betz, 2004). Sweden, like the other Nordic countries, is often considered to be one of the more progressive countries in the world when it comes to family-oriented public policies and gender equality (Acker, 1994; Haavind & Magnusson, 2005). Despite this, there does not seem to be any empirical evidence that the documented stereotypes and beliefs about how women and men are expected to behave are different from those of other countries in the western world (Eagly & Szcesny, 2009), that these beliefs do not correspond with traditional ones (Johansson, 1998; Olsson, 1999; Fullagar, Sverke, Sumer, & Slick, 2003), or that the mechanisms of unequal pay and access to organizational power differ in any significant way between Swedish women and men in comparison to women and men in other western countries (Hultin, 2003; Hultin & Szulkin, 2003).

Gender-related differences regarding how women and men act in connection with the pay-setting process could likely have an effect on how supervisors distribute rewards and pay raises between the sexes. It has been shown in previous investigations that women and men use different strategies when arguing for a potential pay raise (Kaman & Hartel, 1994). Women employees tend to rely on a more systematic presentation of their qualifications, while the male employees are more ready and willing to jump in and ask for the pay they want without further discussion or attempts at argumentation. Women are also considered to be weaker than men in discussions, preferring to hold back their opinions rather than offending someone, whereas men tend to be more driving and self-serving (Johnson, 1994). Johnson (1994) also observed that women are more willing to cooperate than men, especially if a reward were promised for such behavior. The results indicate that women are more willing than men to give in to others' wishes and that they are persuadable and loyal in order to show reciprocity, whereas the men are more interested in successfully completing

the shared assignment. The above suggests that women and men might behave differently during performance reviews, which in turn may result in different financial outcomes.

Previous research has shown that what others think and believe about an individual's or group's abilities can be of relevance for their pay outcomes (Steele, 1997). If employees find that their group (e.g., women) is believed to be poorer at promoting itself in pay-setting contexts – and they also believe that such a preconception is true – they will end up performing at a lower level and receiving less pay (Steele, 1997). A job applicant's expectations about how well he or she will succeed in a performance review has been found to be strongly related to the amount of pay he or she is offered (Barron, 2003; Major et al., 1993). Low expectations lead to individuals not asking for as much pay as they might otherwise, which in turn affects their financial outcomes negatively.

There is a risk that individuals' preconceptions in this matter may become self-fulfilling prophecies by hindering them from obtaining more lucrative financial outcomes from performance reviews or employment interviews (Hojat et al., 2000). Men generally have greater expectations in regard to their pay than women – which results in both higher pay and higher pay raises (Kaman & Hartel, 1994). Women's lower expectations – in regard to both their own ability to promote themselves in the pay-setting context as well as the pay results - may end up limiting their opportunities for successfully benefiting from an individualized pay system. In studies, women have exhibited doubt over their ability (and desire) to promote themselves to the same degree as the men do in connection with individualized pay setting, mainly since they believe that men usually are better at asserting themselves during pay discussions (Barron, 2003; Steele, 1997). These apprehensions have been confirmed by a number of investigations in which men were found to have an easier time discussing pay raises (e.g., Deaux, 1984; Kaman & Hartel, 1994; Kray et al., 2001).

It is important that employees feel that the organization is carrying out the pay-setting process in a non-biased manner that does not discriminate between women and men, since pay raises and evaluations of employees' work performance that are not carried out in an objective or consistent manner have been shown to have a strong negative influence on the attitudes, feelings, and behavior of the employees affected (e.g., Barclay et al., 2005; Colquitt et al., 2001; Olsson, 1999; Tyler & Lind, 1992). Previous studies have found evidence that women to a greater degree think it is important that the policies which regulate the individualized pay-distribution process are believed to be firmly in effect and non-discriminatory (Sweeney & McFarlin, 1997). If female employees perceive that their male colleagues with similar qualifications and performance levels often receive greater pay raises or are to a greater extent favored by an individualized pay system, it

would likely affect their perceptions of whether pay-related gender equality exists and in turn have an impact on their opinions of the pay system itself.

Summary of studies

Study I: Attitudes toward individualized pay among human service workers in the public sector

Objectives

The purpose of this study was to investigate what role a number of factors play in relation to pay attitudes (pay equity, pay satisfaction, attitudes towards individualized pay, and preferences for pay bargaining at a local level). The predictors comprised demographics (age and tenure), performance-related factors (receiving pay-for-performance, experiencing performance differences between co-workers), and characteristics of the work environment (role overload, autonomy, job challenge, feedback, and job satisfaction).

Sample

Data was collected from among assistant nurses affiliated with the Swedish Municipal Workers' Union (Kommunal). Randomly selected from the national membership roster of the union, a total of 800 questionnaires were mailed to the nurses' home addresses. A total of 581 usable questionnaires were returned, which gave a response rate of 74.5 percent (the effective sample was 491 individuals after listwise correction for internal attrition). The respondents' mean age was 45 years (SD=11), their average tenure was 14 years (SD=7), and the proportion of women was 96 percent.

Data analysis

The data was analyzed through multiple regression analysis, which examined the importance of the work- and pay-related factors in relation to the employees' pay attitudes.

Findings

Pay equity was significantly predicted by seven variables: age, pay-forperformance, feedback, and job satisfaction showed a positive relationship with pay equity, while performance differences, role overload, and job challenge evidenced a negative relationship. Organizational tenure and autonomy were the only two independent variables that did not predict pay equity. In total, 12 percent of the variance in pay equity was explained. Two variables, in particular, were predictive of pay satisfaction, namely pay-forperformance, which displayed a positive relationship, and role overload, which was negatively related to the criterion. The remaining predictors failed to reach significance. Altogether, 11 percent of the variance in pay satisfaction could be accounted for by the predictors. Although the factors relating to demographics, performance, and work environment predicted more specific attitudes towards the financial outcome, the results concerning attitudes towards the pay system in general displayed a somewhat different pattern. The only factors predicting the attitudes towards individualized pay systems were organizational tenure, pay-for-performance, and performance differences. The latter two were positively related to this outcome, whereas organizational tenure was negatively associated. In total, 15 percent of the variance in attitudes towards individualized pay was explained by the predictors. Only age and performance differences significantly predicted local preferences. Age showed a negative association with the criterion, whereas performance differences displayed a positive relationship with the criterion. Taken together, 8 percent of the variance in local preferences was accounted for by the predictors.

Conclusions

It appears that a clear connection between performance and pay is essential to employees' attitudes toward individualized pay. This is indicated in the results where the employees' perceptions of whether their pay was contingent on how well they performed and whether they perceived that there were performance differences among the employees at their workplace emerged as the most important predictors.

Interestingly enough, it appears that employees who perceive performance differences among their co-workers with similar work tasks feel that their rewards are less equitable, despite reporting positive attitudes towards individualized pay setting and towards salaries being determined on a local level. It may be that employees who consider their own performance to be better than that of their co-workers want performance differences to be taken into account and rewarded, even if they are not satisfied with how the system works at present. This might result in individuals questioning the efficiency of the individualized pay-setting system. Concerning the more specific attitudes towards the individual's own pay outcome, several work environment factors (feedback, job challenge, and role overload) emerged as significant predictors for whether employees perceived that pay was fairly distributed among those at their workplace, which could be an indication that

employee attitudes are very much shaped by the employers. This implies that employers are able to positively influence employee attitudes towards the pay system itself as well as their attitudes towards the financial outcomes by changing how work is organized and how the pay-setting system is put into practice.

Study II: Perceptions of justice in connection with individualized pay setting

Objectives

The overall aim of the second study was to increase our knowledge of payrelated justice by focusing on four types of justice (distributive, procedural, interpersonal, and informational). More specifically, the first objective was to investigate what role demographics, work climate factors, and factors related to the pay-setting process play in relation to employees' perceptions of pay-related justice. The second objective was to investigate whether these justice dimensions predict employees' levels of various indicators of work-related attitudes and behaviors (job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, performance, and pay satisfaction), after controlling for demographics, work climate, and pay-related factors. The potential mediating effect of the justice dimensions on the outcomes described above was also tested, in terms of whether work climate and pay-related attitudes affected the outcomes indirectly through justice perceptions. As a prerequisite for these tests, the dimensionality of the measure of pay justice perceptions was tested.

Sample

Registered nurses and assistant nurses employed by county councils (the regional authorities responsible for public healthcare) throughout Sweden were randomly chosen from a nationally representative sample for a postal survey. 1190 questionnaires were sent to the nurses' homes in the spring of 2004, and 809 questionnaires were returned (68 % response rate). The effective sample was reduced to 539 individuals due to internal attrition. The proportion of women was 89 percent, the mean age 48 years (SD=10), and the average employment tenure was 19 years (SD=12).

Data analysis

The 20 justice items used were originally developed by Colquitt (2001) and were adapted to measure justice perceptions related to the pay-setting

process. These items were subjected to a confirmatory factor analysis, where the covariance matrix was analyzed in Lisrel 8.7 (Jöreskog & Sörbom, 2001). A series of hierarchic multiple regression analyses were conducted in order to assess the relative importance of work climate and pay-related factors for the four dimensions of justice. The variables were entered in three pre-determined steps, where demographics were entered as control variables in the first step, work climate variables were entered in the second step, and pay-related factors were entered in the last step. Hierarchic multiple regression analyses were also used to test the second objective, concerning the prediction of work-related attitudes and behavior. For these analyses, demographics, work-climate variables, and pay-related factors were treated as independent variables and entered in the first step to assess their relationships with the dependent variables. The four pay justice dimensions were treated as intervening variables and entered in the second step in order to investigate whether they contributed to the variance explained in the outcomes and whether they mediated the effects of the independent variables.

Findings

The results of the confirmatory factor analysis of the justice items showed that the hypothesized four-factor model (distributive, procedural, interpersonal, and informational justice) provided a better fit to the data when compared to a three-dimensional solution (distributive, procedural, and interactional [i.e., interpersonal and informational] justice), a two-factor model (distributive/procedural vs. interpersonal/informational justice), a unifactor solution (all items measuring a global aspect of justice), and a structural null model.

For the first objective, regarding the prediction of different justice perceptions, the results showed that the most important predictors were found among the work climate factors. Feedback was a strong and significant predictor of all four types of justice, while workload was negatively related to all of the justice dimensions except interpersonal justice. Pay-related factors were also shown to be of importance in the results, including gender equality in particular, which exhibited a positive relation to all four justice dimensions. Knowledge of the pay criteria was also positively related to all justice dimensions with the exception of interpersonal justice. Pay level was significantly related to perceptions of distributive and procedural justice, and participating in performance reviews was positively related to procedural and informational justice. The results also showed that younger employees perceived the pay-setting procedures to be fairer than the older workers did, and that the women in general perceived higher levels of pay justice than the men.

The results relating to the second objective (the investigation of whether justice perceptions were related to the outcomes when demographics, work climate, and pay-related factors were taken into account) showed that distributive justice was positively related to commitment, performance, and pay satisfaction. Interpersonal justice was also positively related to job satisfaction as well as negatively related to turnover intention. The results suggest that the unique effects of justice perceptions on the outcomes (job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, performance, and pay satisfaction) – after considering the effects of the control variables – were marginal. The results also showed that pay satisfaction was indirectly affected by demographics, work climate, and pay-related factors, the effects of which were partially mediated by the justice factors.

Conclusions

The fact that feedback, gender equality, workload, and knowledge of pay criteria were the most salient predictors of pay justice perceptions indicates that employees' awareness and understanding of the organization's expectations regarding what the pay criteria are and how they are to be fulfilled, along with the degree of equal opportunity employees have to fulfill them, are important preconditions for the pay-setting process to be perceived as fair. Regarding the second objective of this study, having pay distributed in a fair manner that takes work results into account (distributive justice) and being treated fairly by supervisors (interpersonal justice) were two important factors for employees' perceptions of general pay satisfaction, even if justice was only marginally related to the work-related attitudes and behaviors and had no major mediating effect. The study results supported the notion that justice can be operationalized as four separate dimensions (distributive, procedural, informational, and interpersonal). Altogether, the results of the study indicate that it is possible for organizations to proactively affect perceptions related to the pay-setting process, for example, by ensuring that pay-setting supervisors treat female and male employees equally and respectfully in order to prevent them from feeling discriminated against and by making sure that the employees are informed and accepting of the pay criteria. Employers should also make sure to use a rationale for pay-setting decisions that is perceived as adequate and well-founded by the employees, which can contribute to more positive perceptions of pay-related justice.

Study III: Gender equality and the individualised pay-setting process

Objectives

The third study was descriptive and aimed to increase our understanding of how women and men view different parts of the pay-setting process. This was achieved by asking women and men questions about their perceptions of the pay-related policies of the organization, the pay criteria used, the perceived connection between pay and performance, their attitudes toward individualized pay-setting, and whether they thought that this system granted women and men equal opportunities to affect their pay development.

Sample

The data for Study III was gathered from a random sample of civil servants employed by the Swedish government, who were working in various types of white-collar jobs across Sweden (administrators, educators, and governmental representatives). The sample, which was gender balanced, consisted of employees who performed relatively similar tasks that entailed client contact and administrative responsibilities, among other things, but which excluded any management duties. Questionnaires were sent to the home addresses of a total of 2250 employees, and 1541 questionnaires were returned, which gave a response rate of 67 percent. The mean age was 46, and women made up 51 percent of the sample.

Data analysis

Data was analyzed by investigating the differences between women and men's perceptions of the individual pay-setting process, using t-tests for the differences in mean levels and chi-square tests for the differences in frequencies.

Findings

The results showed that there were only modest gender differences in regard to how the respondents rated the clarity of organizational goals and paysetting policies. The mean levels suggested that the organizations had communicated their goals relatively well, while the respondents' answers suggested that the pay-setting policies could be communicated more explicitly. The majority of both women and men indicated that they had positive attitudes toward individualized pay-setting, and that they were of the opinion that performance differences should be reflected in differences in

pay levels. Both women and men gave high ratings to their own performances, while viewing their possibilities of affecting their own pay as limited. Women participated in performance reviews to a greater extent than men, and they were also more positively disposed to the performance assessment associated with the pay-setting process than were the men.

The majority of both women and men reported that they had a rather good knowledge of the pay criteria used in the pay-setting process, but when they were asked to rank what pay criteria they felt were prioritized by the organization, some gender differences appeared. The women and the men both listed *cooperation skills* and *formal education* as the two factors that the organization found most important, but when it came to the third most important, the women placed the way one handles clients in this position, while the men chose amount of responsibilities. The most striking gender differences emerged in connection with the questions concerning whether women or men were favored by individualized pay-setting and which gender group had an easier time discussing pay-related matters with supervisors. Nearly all of the women reported that the men were both better at discussing pay-related matters and favored by the system, while the men reported that they did not believe that either of the groups were more favored by the system or had an easier time with pay discussions. Extremely few participants reported that they thought that women would be favored by the system or have easier pay discussions than men. The men also reported perceiving significantly higher levels of pay-related gender equality than the women. Both the women and men reported relatively low levels of pay satisfaction, which suggests that both genders were dissatisfied to some extent. The men were marginally more dissatisfied with their pay level than women.

Conclusions

Although the results of the study suggest that, overall, women and men have similar perceptions of the individualized pay-setting system, some specific and important differences emerged regarding the expectations that women and men have about what individualized pay setting may entail for their own gender group. The differences that were found in regard to how women and men prioritized the various pay criteria could lead to women and men not putting their efforts into the same areas – which would lead to differences in their results. The weak connection between work results and rewards, as perceived by the participants, may mean that individualized pay setting is not sufficiently serving as the incentive it is intended to be. Despite the fact that the study did not investigate the potential repercussions of a situation in which individualized pay was not providing equal opportunity for both men and women, it is plausible that the women's more negative view of pay-related gender equality, along with their low expectations of being able to

negotiate their pay as successfully as men, may have a detrimental effect on their pay development. The overview presented in this study may serve as a foundation for more specific investigations into pay-related gender equality.

Discussion

In recent decades the use of various types of individualized pay setting has increased dramatically within organizations (Bender & Elliot, 2003; OECD, 2005). Despite the fact that earlier research has found that the pay-setting process constitutes an essential aspect of the work environment and that it could affect the attitudes and feelings of employees (Adams, 1965; Greenberg, 1993b, 2004, 2006; Williams et al., 2006), relatively few studies have attempted to investigate how employees' pay perceptions are shaped. The main objective of the present thesis was to increase our knowledge about the factors which influence employees' attitudes in connection with the individualized pay-setting process. More specifically, the studies in this thesis investigated (1) several of the key factors that contribute to employee pay attitudes, (2) which factors could be of importance for the pay-related justice perceptions of employees, and (3) if there are differences between men's and women's perceptions of the individualized pay-setting process.

Pay attitudes

In the first study, the purpose was to identify the factors that could influence pay attitudes, including the attitudes specifically regarding satisfaction with the amount of pay received (i.e., pay equity and pay satisfaction), and more general attitudes toward the individualized pay system and the level at which employees prefer their pay raises to be determined, whether it be more locally (by a pay-setting supervisor) or more centrally (through an agreement between labor market parties). The predictors were divided into three blocks: performance-related factors that concerned whether employees perceived that they were paid according to their performance and whether they perceived performance differences between employees with similar work tasks; the work climate factors of role overload, autonomy, job challenge, feedback, and job satisfaction; and the individual factors of age and organizational tenure.

The results showed that the performance-related factors were of relatively great importance for attitudes toward the pay system. The employees who stated that their pay raises were largely related to their performance reported higher levels of pay satisfaction and pay equity and had a more positive attitude towards the individualized pay system. That it is important for

employees to perceive a clear connection between work performance and reward in order to have a positive attitude towards an individualized pay system has been observed in earlier studies as well (Miclei & Lane, 1991; Mulvey et al., 2002). The second performance-related factor, regarding performance differences among colleagues with similar work tasks, was found to be positively associated with attitudes towards the pay system. In accordance with previous findings (e.g., Mannheim & Angel, 1986), the greater the extent of performance differences perceived, the more positive the attitudes were towards individualized pay and towards having pay determined at a more local level. It was also observed that perceptions of performance differences were negatively related to pay equity, which may indicate that employees who perceive that their co-workers perform differently do prefer individualized pay setting but wish that their employers were better at allocating employee pay in a manner which reflects each individual's work performance.

The results also revealed that a number of work climate factors exhibited an association with more specific attitudes toward employee's personal financial outcome, especially pay equity. Employees who perceived that they had a high workload or that their job was challenging reported lower levels of pay equity and pay satisfaction, which has been found in previous studies (Daly & Geyer, 1994). Furthermore, job satisfaction showed a positive relation with pay equity. The finding that employees who are satisfied with their work also tend to be more satisfied with how pay is distributed in their organization has also been observed in other investigations (see, e.g., Quarstein, McAfee, & Glassman, 1992). To receive feedback from a supervisor about one's standing at work was shown to have a positive influence on perceptions of pay equity; this may be due to the fact that feedback tends to improve employees' sense of involvement in the paysetting process, which may in turn lead to more realistic expectations about the outcomes (Williams et al., 2006). Autonomy was the only work environment factor that did not exhibit an association with pay attitudes, which was somewhat surprising since high degrees of autonomy have previously been found to have positive associations with attitudes towards individualized pay (Montemayor, 1995) and attitudes towards pay levels (Williams et al., 2006). Autonomy, however, correlated strongly with the other predictors, which may explain why it was not predictive of the outcome variables. Another unexpected result was that the included work factors only exhibited associations with pay equity and pay satisfaction and did not, in contrast to previous research, predict attitudes towards individualized pay setting (e.g., Dierdorff & Surface, 2008; Lawler, Jenkins, Dunnette, & Hough, 1992). The present study indicates that certain kinds of factors may be of more importance for certain attitudes, since performancerelated factors were better predictors of attitudes toward the pay system, and

work environment factors were more predictive of attitudes toward personal earnings.

Regarding individual factors, age was observed to be positively related to pay equity, as older employees reported higher levels of pay equity (in comparison to what others in the organization earned) than did younger employees. This finding may likely have been influenced by the fact that older employees typically earn more than their younger colleagues (National Mediation Office Records, 2008). Also, older employees with longer tenure were found to be more hesitant towards individualized pay setting, which is also in line with earlier research (e.g., Lawler, 1971; Wallenberg, 2000). One possible explanation for this is that individualized pay systems do not reward older or long-time employees automatically as is the case with more traditional pay systems, but, rather, require that employees perform at a satisfactory level in order to meet the prioritized pay criteria and thus earn their pay raises. The fact that older employees may have experienced both traditional and individualized pay systems would also enable them to compare and decide which of the two is best suited for them.

Pay-related justice

The main purpose of the second study of this thesis was to investigate if factors related to employees' work climate (feedback, goal clarity, autonomy, and workload) and the pay-setting process (salary level, knowledge of pay criteria, performance review attendance, evaluation discomfort, and gender equality) could predict their perceptions of pay justice (distributive, procedural, interpersonal, and informational justice), after taking individual factors into consideration (gender, occupation, full- or part-time employment, and supervisory status). With such an objective in mind, an investigation of whether Colquitt's (2001) measure of organizational justice could be applied in the pay context was considered essential for this study. The dimensionality of the measurement instrument was investigated, and support was found for the notion that the concept of justice consists of, and can be investigated in terms of, four distinct dimensions, and that it is applicable for studies of pay justice.

The study also indicated that the included work climate factors were relatively strong predictors of employees' justice perceptions. Within this block of predictors, feedback emerged as one of the most crucial variables, as it was positively associated with all four justice dimensions. Similar results have been found in other studies where open communication from supervisors and clear explanations about what their standing is in regard to an upcoming pay decision have been found to increase employees' insight into the pay-setting process and the degree to which they perceive that the pay-setting process is conducted fairly (Greenberg, 2004). The results also

suggest that the greater the goal clarity employees perceive, the more positive their perceptions are of aspects of interpersonal and informational justice. Autonomy did not exhibit any significant associations with the outcome variables, which is a finding that differs from earlier studies in which control over how work is organized was observed to be a predictor of perceptions of justice related to pay setting (Mueller, Iverson, & Jo, 1999). Another finding was that perceived workload showed a negative association with all of the justice dimensions except interpersonal justice. This may indicate that employees with high workloads may not always feel that they are being sufficiently rewarded for their efforts. Some theories suggest that employees who feel that they are not being properly rewarded for their work efforts are less apt to regard the pay setting as being conducted fairly (see, e.g., Adams, 1965; Folger & Konovsky, 1989).

When it comes to the influence of pay-related factors on the justice perceptions of employees, the results showed that monthly pay was positively related to distributive and procedural justice. What this suggests is that the higher the employees' pay was, the more just they perceived the pay-setting process and their financial outcomes to be, which has also been indicated in other empirical studies (Colquitt & Chertkoff, 2002; Greenberg, 1993b). It should be noted, however, that, as was the case in these studies, pay level did not predict informational or interpersonal justice. The study also indicates that the perception of pay-related gender equality was an important predictor of employees' general perceptions of pay justice, as it exhibited a positive association with all four justice dimensions. Knowledge of pay criteria and attending performance reviews both showed positive associations with procedural and informational justice in particular, which may indicate, as in earlier studies, that it is important for employees to both receive the opportunity to discuss pay-related questions and also receive information about the reasoning behind the pay decisions in order for the pay decisions to be regarded as fair (Bies, Martin, & Brockner, 1993; Granqvist & Regnér, 2008; Holbrook, 1999). In the present study, it was also observed that the employees who experienced evaluation discomfort before a pay discussion in which their work performance was to be judged also reported lower levels of interpersonal justice, which is in line with previous studies that found that employees' perceptions relating to performance appraisals can affect their perceptions of justice (Flint, 1999; Fulk, Brief, & Barr, 1985; Levy & Williams, 2004; Weiss & Cropanzano, 1996).

In regard to the control variables, women reported higher levels of pay justice than men in respect to all of the dimensions except interpersonal justice, which is in line with previous studies (see, e.g., Brockner & Adsit, 1986; Greenberg, 1990; Williams et al., 2006). Furthermore, the results indicate that older employees are to a greater extent dissatisfied with the extent of justice in the process itself and in the procedures that led to the pay-raise decisions, as compared to younger employees. The employees'

supervisory status and whether they were employed full- or part-time did not demonstrate any significant associations with the outcome variables. However, participants with higher rank, such as registered nurses, reported lower levels of distributive justice than the assistant nurses did. Altogether, individual factors were only found to be marginally associated with the respondents' justice perceptions.

Another purpose of the study was to investigate whether pay justice, as represented by the four justice dimensions, could predict employees' work-related attitudes and behavior (job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, performance, and pay satisfaction) when work climate effects and factors of the pay-setting process were taken into account. Along with this, it was possible to also explore whether justice perceptions mediated the effects of work climate and pay-related factors on employees' attitudes and behaviors.

Among the work climate factors, goal clarity, feedback, and knowledge of the pay criteria emerged as the most important explanatory variables due to their positive associations with the majority of the outcomes. The results also showed that those participants who reported having higher levels of autonomy and perceiving that they were able to influence how their work was arranged, also reported higher levels on all of the outcome variables. The above associations have also been observed in earlier meta-analytic studies in the areas of job satisfaction (Loher, Noe, Moeller, & Fitzgerald, 1985), organizational commitment (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990), turnover intention (Griffeth, Hom, & Gaertner, 2000), performance (Fried, 1991), and pay satisfaction (Williams et al., 2006). Also according to the results, employees' performance was negatively associated with evaluation discomfort, which is supported in previous studies (cf. Flint, 1999; Meyer, Kay, & French, 1965). The reason for this may be that those employees who feel uneasy about an upcoming evaluation may also be among those who do not perform at a high level.

The results regarding individual factors revealed that the women reported having more positive work-related attitudes and behavior than their male counterparts. The fact that women tend to be more satisfied with their work and their pay has also been observed in previous studies (Williams et al., 2006). The participants who perceived greater pay-related gender equality also reported experiencing higher levels of both commitment and pay satisfaction, as well as lower levels of turnover attention, as has also been found in earlier studies (Amabile, 2001; Jones, 1998; Porter et al., 2003; Tekleab et al., 2005).

After taking into consideration the impact that work climate factors, factors related to the pay process, and individual factors had on the outcomes, the results indicate that interpersonal justice predicts higher job satisfaction and lower turnover intentions, which has also been found in previous studies (Colquitt et al., 2001). Positive perceptions of distributive

justice exhibited a strong positive association with pay satisfaction, indicating that employees who perceived that their pay was relatively fair were also more satisfied with it; this association has been observed in previous investigations (e.g., Folger & Konovsky, 1989). It was also found that pay justice partially mediated the effects that the work climate and pay factors had on pay satisfaction, which indicates that the satisfaction employees experience in regard to their pay is shaped by their perceptions of whether the pay is distributed fairly. The relative lack of significant effects of other pay justice dimensions on employee work attitudes and behavior may seem unexpected given previous research. In, for instance, Colquitt et al.'s (2001) meta-analytic study, the bivariate meta-correlations between almost all justice dimensions and the outcomes were of magnitudes similar to the ones found in the present study. It should, however, be noted that Colquitt et al.'s (2001) regression analyses, in contrast to the present study, did not control for any additional explanatory factors. The larger number of predictors that were used in the present study may have prevented overestimations of the effects of justice. Otherwise, it could be that the use of such a conservative statistical procedure may have led to underestimations of the impact of justice perceptions on employee attitudes and behavior.

Altogether, the results of Study II indicate that employees' justice perceptions regarding the pay-setting process, as well as their work-related attitudes and behavior, are chiefly connected to factors in their work climate. In addition, employees' justice perceptions seem to be associated with the quality of supervisors' communication concerning work performance and how the work is supposed to progress, as well as whether the pay-setting process is discriminatory, if the workload is suitable, and what degree of influence employees have over how their work is organized and carried out.

A gender perspective on pay perceptions

The third study was descriptive and aimed at increasing our knowledge of how women and men perceive the individualized pay-setting process. The questions concerned their performance review attendance, self-reported performance, attitudes toward performance assessments and individualized pay setting, as well as whether differences in performance should result in pay differences. Moreover, the participants were also questioned about their awareness of the organizational goals, pay policies, and pay criteria, as well as about their perceptions of pay satisfaction, pay being based on performance, their possibilities of affecting their pay, pay-related gender equality, and whether the individualized pay system allowed equal opportunities for women and men.

It was found that both the women and the men were predominantly positive towards the individualized pay system. The results also revealed that the majority of the participants believed that employees should be rewarded on the basis of their performance. The respondents expressed that they wished their pay raises were more clearly related to their individual work results. Furthermore, most of the respondents were positive towards having their work efforts evaluated, with women expressing slightly more support for it, which is a finding that has been observed in previous research (see, e.g., Morand, 2000). The results indicated that neither the women nor the men felt any considerable degree of uneasiness over pay evaluations. Only about half of the respondents partook regularly in pay discussions, with women taking part a little more often than men. The women and the men in the study both reported that their knowledge of the organizational goals was relatively good.

When the participants were asked about what pay criteria they believed the organization should prioritize, the exact order varied between the genders, but the same criteria appeared among the top three for both genders. The criteria that the participants believed that pay raises were based on differed somewhat between women and men. No gender-related differences emerged regarding the participants' self-reported work performance, as the women and the men both perceived that they performed at high levels. The women, to a greater extent than the men, believed that their pay raises were based on how well they performed in terms of the quality of their work results, whereas the men, to a greater extent than the women, believed that their pay was based on how hard they worked. It has been found in previous research that employees generally try to meet the pay criteria that the employer appears to prioritize and that lead to rewards (Kaman & Hartel, 1994; Kohn, 2001; Stevens, Bayetta, & Gist, 1993). Employees' perceptions of how the employer prioritizes various work tasks can therefore be of importance for determining what the employees set out to accomplish and what they dedicate the most energies towards (Locke & Latham, 2002; Martocchio, 2006). If women and men have differing perceptions about what is to be rewarded and what they believe the employer prioritizes, it may result in these groups directing their efforts in different directions, which may in turn affect their pay growth differently (Hojat et al., 2000).

The women and men in this study reported that their possibilities of affecting their pay growth were relatively limited. This finding is worth mentioning since previous research has shown how essential it is for employees to perceive that they are able to affect their pay by fulfilling certain pay criteria in order for individualized pay setting to serve as an incentive for, for example, increased performance (Heneman et al., 2000; Lawler, 2000). The low levels of pay satisfaction that were reported may perhaps be an expression of their general dissatisfaction with their pay growth, or it could also imply that the respondents do not believe the paysetting process is functioning as well as it should. The men reported that they were a little more dissatisfied with their pay situation, compared to the

women, which is in agreement with a large number of studies that have found that women tend to be more satisfied with their pay (Williams et al., 2006).

The most distinct gender differences were found in connection with whether the pay-setting process was conducted fairly in respect to gender and also with the question of whether women or men were considered to be more favored by individualized pay setting and whether one of the genders had an easier time with pay discussions. The results were relatively unambiguous, as the women in the study reported that they believed the men were favored and had an easier time with pay discussions, while the men reported that they did not believe that either of the genders were favored or had an easier time with such discussions. Only a very few of the participants were of the opinion that the women had more advantages in regard to pay setting than men. This perception is in line with other empirical investigations which found that men actually had an easier time discussing pay and were often able to negotiate higher pay raises than women (Barron, 2003; Deaux, 1984; Kaman & Hartel, 1994; Kray et al., 2001). The above results might also indicate that the men in the study – in contrast to the women – were less aware of the possible disparities regarding pay setting (Freedman & Phillips, 1988). For example, compared to the women, the men reported that pay-related gender equality was much higher. In all, the results of Study III indicate that the perceptions of men and women can differ in regard to individualized pay setting and the advantages that each can potentially gain from such a system.

Methodological considerations

Although this thesis has increased our knowledge of the attitudes and perceptions surrounding individualized pay setting, certain methodological considerations should be taken into account. One such consideration concerns the fact that the three studies were based on self-reports. Critics of the use of self-evaluations sometimes mention that individuals' perceptions of a phenomenon can be inaccurate when viewed in comparison to the objective situation (Spector, 1994). In the present thesis, however, the focus is specifically on individuals' subjective perceptions, which makes selfreports one of the most appropriate methods for gathering this type of data (e.g., Perrewé & Zellars, 1999). The three studies were based on questionnaire data, which poses a potential limitation, since the associations may appear stronger in mono-method studies (Campbell & Fiske, 1959; Spector, 1994). Although it has been suggested in recent years that the risks of common method variance may be somewhat exaggerated, the potential problems should not be underestimated (Spector, 2006). Given this, it is possible that the validity of the results could be confirmed by replicating the

investigation and also including other types of data such as objective measures of performance. To reach a more in-depth understanding of how individuals' perceptions in connection with the individual pay system are shaped, it may be productive to also include qualitative data as a complement to the quantitative.

Due to the cross-sectional design of the three studies, it is not possible to draw any causal conclusions (Bollen, 1989; Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002). To determine the direction of the relation between two variables: (1) the two variables must correlate with each other, (2) the independent variable must precede the dependent variable, and (3) the relation cannot be influenced by other factors. The first condition can be established through simple correlation analysis and the second can often be supported through the use of longitudinal study designs, while the third condition is essentially impossible to ensure (Bollen, 1989). While the relations between the variables were investigated in the three studies, none of the other conditions were met. The tests for these relations between the predictors and the outcome variables – which also includes the tests for mediation in Study II – were, however, based on established theories and empirical methods which have suggested that individuals' perceptions of the pay-setting process can lead to differing attitudes towards pay (Summers & DeNisi, 1990, Williams et al., 2006) and justice perceptions (Ambrose, Harland, & Kulik, 1991; Colquitt et al., 2001; Cropanzano & Greenberg, 1997; Mieceli & Lane, 1991). These causal limitations are also relevant in the case of mediation, which is used in Study II, since all variables were measured at the same time (cf. Baron & Kenny, 1986; McKinnon, Fairchild, & Fritz, 2007). Although cross-sectional studies can be seen as useful for showing the different relations and research areas that may be of interest for future studies (Spector, 1994), the results in this thesis would need to be replicated using longitudinal data. For example, it would be interesting to examine an organization before and after pay reviews took place, in order to be able to measure any changes in employee pay perceptions that occurred.

When it comes to external validity, there are several aspects that should be taken into account. Since the participants in the studies of this thesis consisted of public employees within the healthcare and public service sectors in Sweden, the possibilities of generalizing the results of this thesis to other cultures, occupational groups, and sectors may be limited. On the other hand, having a limited number of occupations and organizations, as in this thesis, can make it easier to control for and analyze the factors that influence individuals and facilitate the interpretation of the results (cf. de Jonge et al., 2001). It is also quite possible that certain types of people are drawn to certain types of occupations and occupational areas (Miller & West, 1993). If this is true, then there is a possibility that the relations between the explanatory variables and pay attitudes might have been different if the sample had consisted of a cross-sectional selection of employees from a

variety of branches and organizations, even though there is little empirical evidence that a person's disposition can affect the correlations in self reports (Spector, Zapf, Chen, & Frese, 2000; Spector, 2006).

Another consideration has to do with the choice to use listwise deletion; although a recognized procedure, the effective samples of the three studies became somewhat small as compared to the sizes of the original samples. Even though missing data is a reality that all social scientists must face – regardless of whether it is due to non-participation, attrition, or internal missing values – it may affect the results in an unintended way (Bergman & Magnusson, 1990). Since the effective samples do not differ in terms of the participants' gender distribution or age, and the response rates could be considered relatively high (cf. Baruch & Holtom, 2008), the effective samples were regarded as satisfactory.

Another factor that could have influenced the results was the fact that only public employees were included in the studies, since organizational goals can differ between the public and private sectors. Organizations in the public sector often have multiple and vague objectives which are dictated by several parties through political processes (Boyle, 2001), whereas the general objective of private organizations is to generate a financial profit (Farnham & Horton, 1996). Accordingly, it may be more difficult for public employees to sort out, for example, what the organizational objectives are, which pay criteria are prioritized, and how work performance is connected to different rewards. It is therefore conceivable that the relations between the explanatory variables and the different pay attitudes would be weaker for public employees than for private employees. However, following the influence of New Public Management in recent decades, an 'enterprization' of the public sector has taken place, which has led to aspects such as management, competition, profit and loss accounting, as well as pay-setting processes being more often handled as they would be in the private sector, which could speak against the former mentioned presumption (Ferlie et al., 1996; Hood, 1995; Lundin & Söderholm, 1997). With the introduction of individualized pay systems regularly taking place at new workplaces, the main criteria for participation in the study were that respondents had similar organizational circumstances as well as a good deal of experience with individualized pay setting. It would nevertheless be beneficial to replicate the results using data that also includes other occupational areas and groups as well as other sectors. Another way to expand upon the present findings would be to take the prominent differences in how individualized pay systems actually operate in different countries into account, by conducting further national and international studies in which these differing systems are compared.

As in most studies, there may have been confounding variables that affected the results in some way, such as if the participants were supervisors or not. Supervisors might regard the pay-setting process from a somewhat

different perspective than employees, since supervisors in general are more responsible for how the process is carried out. Another potential confounder is work assignments, since different assignments could entail different types of goals and basic conditions for fulfilling the pay criteria, which in turn may affect employees' pay attitudes and perceptions of the pay system. Only a limited number of pay setting supervisors, however, were included in the studies, and the work assignments were fairly similar among the employees of each individual study. It would be beneficial to control for possible confounding factors such as these in future studies, in order to increase the validity of the conclusions.

Theoretical implications and future research

The primary objective of the thesis was to shed more light on the factors that can influence pay attitudes and perceptions of pay justice regarding individualized pay setting in a Swedish context. The three studies comprising this thesis have investigated several types of perceptions that relate to the pay-setting process. Employees' attitudes towards the individualized pay system, perceptions of pay justice, and pay-related gender equality were studied.

As in other studies, it was found that the work climate and factors related to pay setting influenced the various attitudes (Greenberg et al., 2007; Stuhlmacher & Walters, 1999; Wagner & Moch, 1986; Williams et al., 2006). Employees' work situation was, for example, observed to be strongly associated with how fair they perceived the pay-setting process to be. Since individualized pay setting is often based on how well employees carry out their work, this thesis relied upon the well-established job characteristics that have been used for a long time within working life research (see, e.g., Hackman & Oldham, 1975). However, future research on the various types of pay-setting systems will soon have to adapt to the new conditions that are gradually taking over and which are going to have a growing influence on the work situations of employees. Employees, for instance, may find themselves more often working in temporary teams whose membership changes depending on the work task, having different supervisors for different work tasks, or working at a multitude of workplaces rather than mainly one (Oldham & Hackman, 2010). Some of the criticism that has been directed at the individualized pay system has been over the fact that it is not very suited for collaborative work or teamwork and that it may even create a competitive atmosphere through its rewarding of individual performance (Kohn, 2001; Pfeffer, 2001). Future studies are thus needed in order to attempt to anticipate what sort of impact these changing circumstances may end up having on the pay-setting process so that we can begin to figure out how the individualized pay system would need to be altered to suit the new work climate. Furthermore, since there is a lack of knowledge about the different types of individualized pay setting that are used in Sweden (Neu, 2006), descriptive studies are called for to increase our awareness of which pay systems are in use. It would also be of interest to conduct a study that is based on both the pay-setting procedures and the work-related conditions affecting supervisors and employees in a particular organization and to use this information to investigate and increase our knowledge about how the various parts of the process affect employees' pay perceptions.

The present thesis found that the four dimensions of justice (distributive, procedural, interpersonal, and informational justice) are conceptually discrete, which supports earlier research findings (e.g., Colquitt, 2001). This thesis has not been concerned with examining the similarities and differences between the various pay-related perceptions and attitudes that were included in the studies. To better understand the potential interrelations between these concepts, future research will have to take a closer look at, for example, whether perceptions of pay justice and gender equality are connected and, if so, in what ways. Other conceivable research queries include whether employees' attitudes towards individualized pay systems depend on their justice perceptions, and whether perceptions of pay justice can predict employees' attitudes towards individualized pay.

Another area that emerged as essential for employee justice perceptions in this thesis comprises the factors that are connected to the pay-setting process itself, concerning gender equality, the clarity of the pay criteria, the level of opportunity to participate in performance reviews, and whether there is an explicit connection between pay raises and work results. It is likely that the abovementioned changes in employee work conditions will present a number of new challenges for pay-setting supervisors. The way in which individuals' work performances are evaluated and pay raises are differentiated among employees will likely need to be adjusted if a greater extent of the work is carried out in teams, as will the nature of feedback, if it becomes much less feasible for supervisors to be in a position where they can personally observe their employees' performance (Oldham & Hackman, 2010). An additional aspect that should be taken into consideration in regard to pay setting is that today's employees are to a greater extent employed within the service sector (Grant & Parker, 2009; Magnusson, 1999). Given the nature of the work performed within this sector, the question of what the most suitable pay criteria are on which to base pay raises has become more relevant. When individualized pay systems are based on the fulfillment of various pay criteria, and these criteria to a large extent direct how employees organize their work and prioritize work tasks (Pfeffer, 1997), it is important that the pay criteria represent the goals of the organization. Because the goals and work results of many service-related enterprises are often difficult to measure or define, formulating the appropriate pay criteria can be a complicated task for employers in this sector (Boyle, 2001; Kohn, 2001). Within eldercare, for example, should workers who dedicate more time to easing the patients' loneliness be rewarded or should those who are able to check on the most patients during their work shift be rewarded? Future studies are needed in order find out more about the role that pay criteria have in shaping employees' work-related attitudes and behavior. While a number of studies have investigated methods for formulating pay criteria (see, e.g., Alsterdal & Wallenberg, 2005), more research is needed in this area.

In this thesis, the relations between individual factors and pay-related attitudes were studied after taking work climate and pay-setting factors into account. The results indicated that younger employees were more positive towards the individualized pay-setting system than older employees, while older employees were a little more satisfied with how they were rewarded for their work efforts than were the younger employees. But, otherwise, the results indicated that individual-related factors were only marginally related to employee pay attitudes, which may suggest that these factors are not especially important (Williams et al., 2006). It would, however, be interesting if future studies were to also investigate some of the other factors that might affect employees' perceptions of the pay-setting process, such as personal objectives, socioeconomic status, education, type of household, number of children, employment type, and ethnicity. Another interesting factor that might be of interest in the future concerns employees' core selfevaluations (CSE), defined as the "fundamental premises that individuals hold about themselves and their functioning in the world" (Judge, Erez, & Bono, 1998, p. 168). Since CSE have been found to predict personal financial outcomes (Judge & Hurst, 2007, 2008), they may have an effect on how employees perceive their pay. In recent years it has also been suggested that an individual's disposition may be of consequence for his or her attitudes and perceptions towards the pay-setting process (see, e.g., Colquitt, Scott, Judge, & Shaw, 2006; Lilly & Virick, 2006; Mueller & Plug, 2004), which may be worth exploring further.

Gender was an individual factor that seemed to be associated with most of the employees' pay-related justice perceptions in Study II, and was investigated in greater detail in the third study. The purpose was to investigate how the respective genders regarded the individualized pay-setting process and pay-related gender equality. An interesting paradox that emerged, which other studies have also observed in recent decades, was that the women tended to report higher levels of pay satisfaction (see, e.g., Bylsma & Major, 1994; Crosby, 1984; Sauser & York, 1978; Sweeney, McFarlin & Interrieden, 1990; Williams et al., 2006) and pay justice (see, e.g., Brockner & Adsit, 1986; Greenberg, 1990) than the men, despite the fact that the men's earnings in general are higher (see, e.g., National Mediation Office, 2008; OECD, 2005). One of the proposed explanations for this phenomenon is that employees may have a tendency to limit their frame of reference to those of the same gender who have similar work,

qualifications, and pay (Phelan, 1994). Studies have shown that this phenomenon can result in employees and their employers regarding their current workplace order as "the way it should be," which ends up reinforcing pay-related gender differences (Barron, 2003; Jackson, 1989; Major, 1989). Another possible explanation is that women tend to have lower expectations than men in respect to their pay level and pay increases (Kaman & Hartel, 1994), which, conversely, might further suggest that the relatively higher expectations of the men may make them more prone to experiencing disappointment over financial outcomes – thus explaining why the men report lower pay satisfaction than women. Despite these plausible explanations, additional studies are needed in order to delve deeper into the potential causes of this phenomenon.

The results also showed that while there were a number of general similarities between how the women and the men viewed the pay-setting process, the women were considerably more pessimistic in regard to payrelated gender equality and in regard to their own possibilities of profiting from an individualized pay system as compared to the men, which confirms the findings of previous studies in this area (see, e.g., Acker, 1991; Alsterdal & Wallenberg, 2005; Barron, 2003; Steele, 1997; Wetterberg, 2002). It would therefore be interesting for future investigations to examine whether Swedish women's (and men's) expectations concerning their possibilities of benefiting from an individualized pay system may also lead to differences in their financial outcomes in the same way as has been found in North American studies (see, e.g., Barron, 2003; Steele, 1997; Stuhlmacher & Walters, 1999). Furthermore, it would be of interest to examine how employees' subjective perceptions of their pay compare to their actual financial outcomes. Another area deserving of more attention concerns how those who conduct the evaluations in an individualized pay system (typically the pay-setting supervisors) regard the work abilities and skills of women and men, respectively, since these are the individuals who ultimately determine the distribution of rewards. There is previous research indicating that male supervisors act differently depending on whether they are interacting with female or male subordinates (e.g., Hultin, 2003; Hultin & Szulkin, 2003; Rosen & Jerdee, 1973, 1974). Other studies suggest that men, in general, are perceived as being more competent than women (Olsson, 1999). Furthermore, previous research also proposes that performance is often attributed to individual characteristics (e.g., abilities or skills) if the subject is a man, whereas the performance of women is often attributed to external factors (e.g., luck or market forces) (Eagly & Sczesny, 2009; Igbaria & Baroudi, 1995). It would also be interesting to explore whether certain gender combinations, in respect to the pay-setting supervisor and the petitioning employee, may be associated with differences in pay-setting outcomes in a Swedish context, since this has been found in many other parts of Europe and North America (Eagly & Sczesny, 2009).

Previous studies have shown that pay-related perceptions may be related to various outcomes in the forms of attitudes, feelings, and behavior (Barclay et al., 2005; Colquitt et al., 2001; Tyler & Lind, 1992). Whether perceptions of pay justice could affect individuals' work-related attitudes and behavior was investigated in Study II. After taking into account the work situation, how the pay-setting process was conducted, and various individual-related factors, the results indicated that justice perceptions were marginally associated with the outcomes the use of a rather conservative design in this study, where a large number of control variables were used in addition to the justice dimensions, may have resulted in an underestimation of the effects of the effects that pay-related justice perceptions had on the outcome variables. Despite the modest effects, the results do not necessarily imply that perceptions of pay justice are unimportant in these contexts, but rather that they should be regarded as one of a number of psychological and organizational explanations for individuals' attitudes and behavior (see, e.g., Greenberg, 2001; Leventhal, 1980; Shapiro, Kirkman, Greenberg, & Cropanzano, 2001; Taylor, 2001). More research needs to focus on expanding our knowledge about how pay justice and other pay attitudes stand up in comparison to other motivational forces. Given that people often presume that they will be treated in a fair and respectful manner (Folger & Cropanzano, 1998), it would be of interest to take a closer look at what happens to employees' work-related attitudes, behavior and psychological health when pay justice is considered to be low. These mechanisms might also relate to other theories that would be interesting to further explore in the future. One such theory is that of the psychological contract (Rousseau, 1989), which concerns how a breach of an implied contract – such as when a smaller pay raise than expected is received (a perceived injustice) – between employee and supervisor may affect employees' attitudes. Another potentially relevant theory is that which concerns social status (Adler, Epel, Castellazzo, & Ickovics, 2000). This theory holds that individuals define their own social status by evaluating a number of objective markers (income, education, gender) or by comparing their subjective perceptions of their status to the statuses of others. It has been found that having low status and perceived unfair circumstances, as a result of these evaluations, has strong associations with health and mortality (Adler& Rehkopf, 2008).

Although it was not the main focus of this thesis, the way in which supervisors handled pay setting was found to be of essential importance for employee perceptions, which also has been demonstrated in previous studies (Cobb & Frey, 1996; Greenberg, 1993a). In Study II, for example, the results indicated that supervisors' treatment of their employees during the paysetting process seemed to play a role in whether the employees wish to remain in the organization when the treatment was perceived to be disrespectful and undignified to some degree (low interpersonal justice). Individualized pay setting requires that the pay-setting supervisors take on a

participatory role in the employees' work, besides demanding high degrees of social competence and conflict management skills (Pfeffer, 1997), as well as the ability to be objective and fair – despite the fact that those in this position often lack support and training (Skarlicki & Latham, 2005). A future research question then becomes whether these demands are reasonable and whether their fulfillment is a realistic possibility. Given the increased demands concerning personal interaction and communication between supervisors and employees that the individualized pay setting carries with it, future studies could also benefit from turning their attention to examining what role the supervisor–employee relationship may play in shaping employees' attitudes towards and perceptions of the pay-setting process.

Concluding remarks

According to the three studies of this thesis, the overall impression is that employees generally seem to be positive towards individualized pay systems. However, a closer examination of the various aspects of the paysetting process reveals that the circumstances are more complex. The results indicate that there is often no clear connection between employees' performance and the rewards they receive, according to Study I and II. Furthermore, the employees do not feel that they can affect the pay setting to any considerable degree, as was found in Study III. In addition, women were found to have a relatively negative view concerning both the level of payrelated gender equality and their possibilities of benefiting from an individualized pay system as a group – although they reported being more satisfied with the individualized pay system and the pay justice than men. This suggests that the individualized pay-setting system might be able to function more effectively than it does at present.

Based on the results of this thesis, several of the preconditions that may increase employees' overall satisfaction with an individualized pay system relate foremost to the work situation or to the pay-setting process. These findings suggest that if employees perceive that they have sufficient information about the applicable pay criteria and how they are to be fulfilled, and receive feedback on how the work appears to be progressing, and are also offered participation in a pay system where justifiable pay raises are connected to work performance, and where the pay-setting process does not favor one group over another – their overall satisfaction may increase. The findings of this thesis are also in line with theories that emphasize the importance of having equitably distributed rewards (Adams, 1965) and realistic expectations (Vroom, 1964) in order for employees to feel motivated.

Each organization and company that utilizes an individualized pay-setting system naturally has to set it up in a way that suits its own circumstances,

but a more general measure would be to increase the openness surrounding the pay-setting process in order to avoid speculation (Greenberg, 2004). Another way to try to bring about more positive pay perceptions would be to standardize the pay-setting process so that, for example, feedback occasions and performance reviews are, as much as possible, arranged along similar lines for all employees. Employers could also ensure that equal opportunity is given to all employees to fulfill the stipulated pay criteria as well as make efforts to increase the employees' influence over which pay criteria the organization or division uses (Alsterdal & Wallenberg, 2005; Kohn, 2001; Thibault & Walker, 1975). Since the satisfaction of employees has been found to increase when their supervisors have received training in how to follow fairer management principles (Skarlicki & Latham, 2005), the pay-setting process might benefit from supervisors gaining more insight into any potential prejudices they may have that could influence their assessments regarding pay setting.

A question that was put forth in the introduction of this thesis was whether it is realistic to expect individualized pay setting to serve as an incentive for employees and to improve their motivation and performance. Suggestions in support of this have been criticized in the literature since there is a lack of empirical studies that support the logic behind such expectations (Kohn, 2001; OECD, 2005; Pfeffer, 2001). This thesis cannot provide a definitive answer to this question either, but the results indicate that employees' subjective expectations about the pay-setting process and its outcomes – in combination with how they perceive their work situation – are related to how satisfied employees are with the pay system and how fair they consider it to be. Accordingly, it can be concluded that a pay-setting process that is perceived to operate properly, and that allows each employee an equal opportunity to meet the demands it presents, is likely to contribute to employees feeling greater satisfaction at work.

References

- Acker, J. (1991). Thinking about wages: The gendered wage gap in Swedish banks. *Gender & Society*, 5(3), 390-407.
- Acker, J. (1994). Women, families, and public policy in Sweden. In E. N. Chow & C. W. Berheide (Eds.), *Women, the family, and policy: A global perspective* (pp. 33-50). Albany: State U of New York Press.
- Adams, J. S. (1963). Toward an understanding of inequity. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 67, 422-436.
- Adams, J. S. (1965). Inequity in social exchange. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (pp. 267-299). New York: Academic Press.
- Adler, N. E., Epel, E. S., Castellazzo, G., & Ickovics, J. R. (2000). Relationship of subjective and objective social status with psychological and physiological functioning: Preliminary data in healthy white women. *Health Psychology*, 19(6), 586-592.
- Adler, N. E., & Rehkopf, D. H. (2008). U.S. disparities in health: Descriptions, causes, and mechanisms. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29, 235-252.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1977). Attitude-behavior relations: A theoretical analysis and review of empirical research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 84, 888-918.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Alsterdal, L., & Wallenberg, J. (2005). *Individuell lönesättning i praktiken: En studie om verksamhet och lönesättning i kommunal sektor* [Individualized pay setting in practice: An investigation of operations and pay setting in the municipal sector]. Stockholm: Sveriges kommuner och landsting.
- Amabile, T. (2001). Beyond talent: John Irving and the passionate craft and creativity. *American Psychologist*, 56(4), 333-336.
- Ambrose, M. L. (2002). Contemporary justice research: A new look at familiar questions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 89(1), 803-812.
- Ambrose, M. L., Harland, L. K., & Kulik, C. T. (1991). Influence of social comparisons on perceptions of organizational fairness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 239-246.
- Ambrose, M. L., Seabright, M. A., & Schminke, M. (2002). Sabotage in the workplace: The role of organizational injustice. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 89(1), 947-965.
- Andersen, T. (1997). Decentralization in the Danish public sector: The emergence of local pay bargaining strategies. In M. Sverke (Ed.), *The future of trade unionism* (pp. 161-175). Aldershot, UK: Ashgate.
- Aquino, K. (1995). Relationships among pay inequity, perceptions of procedural justice, and organizational citizenship. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 8(1), 21-33.
- Aryee, S., Budhwar, P. S., & Chen, Z. X. (2002). Trust as a mediator of the relationship between organizational justice and work outcomes: Test of a social exchange model. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23(3), 267-286.

- Ayres, I., & Siegelman, P. (1995). Race and gender discrimination in bargaining for a new car. *The American Economic Review*, 85, 301-321.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman
- Barclay, L. J., Skarlicki, D. P., & Pugh, A. D. (2005). Exploring the role of emotions in injustice perceptions and retaliation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 629-643.
- Barling, J., & Phillips, M. (1993). Interactional, formal, and distributive justice in the workplace: An exploratory study. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 127(6), 649-656.
- Baron, R. A. (1988). Negative effects of destructive criticism: Impact on conflict, self-efficacy, and task performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73(2), 199-207.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182.
- Barron, L. A. (2003). Ask and you shall receive? Gender differences in negotiators' beliefs about requests for a higher salary. *Human Relations*, *56*, 635-662.
- Baruch, Y., & Holtom, B. C. (2008). Survey response rate levels and trends in organizational research. *Human Relations*, 61(8), 1139-1160.
- Beehr, T. A., Walsh, J. T., & Taber, T. D. (1976). Relationship of stress to individually and organizationally valued states: Higher order needs as a moderator. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *35*, 41-47.
- Bembenek, A. F., Beike, D. R., & Schroeder, D. A. (2007). Justice violations, emotional reactions, and justice–seeking responses. In D. De Cremer (Ed), *Advances in the psychology of justice and affect* (pp. 15-37). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing, inc.
- Bender, K., & Elliot, R. (2003). *Decentralised pay setting: A study of collective bargaining reform in the civil service in Australia, Sweden, and the UK*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Berger, J, Rosenholtz, S. J, & Zelditch, M, Jr. (1980). Status organizing processes. In A. Inkeles, N. J. Smelser, & R. H. Turner (Eds), *Annual review of sociology* (pp. 479-508). Palo Alto, CA: Annual Reviews.
- Biernat, M. (2003). Toward a broader view of social stereotyping. *American Psychologist*, 58, 1019-1027.
- Bies, R. J. (2005). Are procedural and interactional justice conceptually distinct? In J. Greenberg & J. A. Colquitt (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational justice* (pp. 85-112). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Bies, R. J., Martin, C. L., & Brockner, J. (1993). Just laid off, but still a "good citizen"? Only if the process is fair. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 6(3), 227-238.
- Bies, R. J., & Moag, J. F. (1986). Interactional justice: Communication criteria of fairness. In R. J. Lewicki, B. H. Sheppard, & M. H. Bazerman (Eds.), *Research on negotiations in organizations* (pp. 43-55). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Bies, R. J., & Tripp, T. M. (1995). Beyond distrust: "Getting even" and the need for revenge. In F. Kramer & T. Tyler (Eds.), *Trust in organizations* (pp. 246-260). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bies, R. J., & Tripp, T. M. (2002). "Hot flashes, open wounds": Injustice and the tyranny of its emotions. In S. W. Gilliland, D. D. Steiner, & D. P. Skarlicki (Eds.), *Emerging perspectives on managing organizational justice* (pp. 203-221). Greenwich, CT: Information Age.

- Blau, P. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. New York: Wiley.
- Blau, P. M. (1986). Exchange and power in social life. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction.
- Bollen, K. A. (1989). Structural equations with latent variables. New York: Wiley.
- Boyle, G.A. (2001). Public and private management: What's the difference? *Journal of Management Studies*, 39, 97-122.
- Brockner, J., & Adsit, L. (1986). The moderating impact of sex on the equity satisfaction relationship: A field study. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 71, 585-590.
- Brotheridge, C. M. (2003). The role of fairness in mediating the effects of voice and justification on stress and other outcomes in a climate of organizational change. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 10, 253-268.
- Brown, L. K. (1979). Women and business management. *Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 5, 266-288.
- Brown, S. P., & Leigh, T. W. (1996). A new look at psychological climate and its relationship to job involvement, effort, and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(4), 358-368.
- Bunning, R. L. (1992). Models for skill-based pay plans. HR Magazine, 37, 52-64.
- Bylsma, W. H., & Major, B. (1994). Social comparisons and contentment: Exploring the psychological costs of the gender wage gap. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 18(2), 241-249.
- Cable, D. M., & Judge, T. A. (1994). Pay preferences and job search decisions: A person-organization fit perspective. *Personnel Psychology*, 47, 317-348.
- Campbell, D. T., & Fiske, D. W. (1959). Convergent and discriminant validity by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, *56*, 81-105.
- Campion, M. A., & Berger, C. J. (1990). Conceptual integration and empirical test of job design and compensation relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 43, 525-553.
- Capitani, E., Laiacona, M., Barbarotto, R., & Cossa, F. M. (1999). How can we evaluate interference in attentional tests? A study based on bi-variate non-parametric tolerance limits. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 21(2), 216-228.
- Catalyst. (2006). 2005 Catalyst census of women corporate officers and top earners of the Fortune 500. Retrieved from: http://www.catalystwomen.org.pdf
- Cloutier, J., & Vilhuber, L. (2008). Procedural justice criteria in salary determination. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 23(6), 713-740.
- Cobb, A. T., & Frey, F. M. (1996). The effects of leader fairness and pay outcomes on superior/subordinate relations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 26(16), 1401-1426.
- Cohen-Charash, Y., & Spector, P. E. (2001). The role of justice in organizations: A meta-analysis. Organizational Behavior and Human decision Processes, 86, 278-321.
- Colquitt, J. A. (2001). On the dimensionality of organizational justice: A construct validation of a measure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 386-400.
- Colquitt, J.A., & Chertkoff, J. M. (2002). Explaining injustice: The interactive effect of explanation and outcome on fairness perceptions and task motivation. *Journal of Management*, 28, 591-610.
- Colquitt, J. A., Conlon, D. E., Wesson, M. J., Porter, C. O. L. H., & Ng, K. Y. (2001). Justice at the millennium: A meta-analytic review of 25 years of organizational justice research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 425-445.

- Colquitt, J. A., Greenberg, J., & Zapata-Phelan, C. P. (2005). In J. Greenberg & J. A. Colquitt (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational justice* (pp. 3-56). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Colquitt, J. A., Noe, R. A, & Jackson, C. L. (2002). Justice in teams: Antecedents and consequences of procedural justice climate. *Personnel Psychology*, 55, 83-109.
- Colquitt, J. A., Scott, B. A., Judge, T. A., & Shaw, J. C. (2006). Justice and personality: Using integrative theories to derive moderators of justice effects. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 100(1), 110-127.
- Cropanzano, R., Byrne, Z. S., Bobocel, D. R., & Rupp, D. E. (2001). Moral virtues, fairness heuristics, social entities, and other denizens of organizational justice. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 58(2), 164-209.
- Cropanzano, R., & Greenberg, J. (1997). Progress in organizational justice: Tunneling through the maze. In C. L. Cooper & I. T. Robertson (Eds.), International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology (pp. 317-372). Chichester: Wiley.
- Crosby, F. (1984). Relative deprivation in organizational settings. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 6, 51-93.
- Dailey, R. C., & Kirk, D. J. (1992). Distributive and procedural justice as antecedents of job dissatisfaction and intent to turnover. *Human Relations*, 45(3), 305-317.
- Daly, J. P., & Geyer, P. D. (1994). The role of fairness in implementing large-scale change: Employee evaluations of process and outcome in seven facility relocations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 15, 623-638.
- Deaux, K. (1984). From individual differences to social categories: Analysis of a decade's research on gender. *American Psychologist*, 39, 105-116.
- de Boer, M. E., Bakker, B. A., Syroit, J. E., & Shaufeli, W. B. (2002). Unfairness at work as a predictor of absenteeism. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23, 181-197.
- Deckop, J. R. (1992). Organizational and career pay satisfaction. *Human Resource Management Review*, 2, 115-130.
- Deckop, J. R., Merriman, K. K., & Blau, G. (2004). Impact of variable risk preferences on the effectiveness of control by pay. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 77(1), 63-80.
- DeConinck, J. B., & Stilwell, C. D. (2004). Incorporating organizational justice, role states, pay satisfaction, and supervisor satisfaction in a model of turnover intentions. *Journal of Business Research*, 57(3), 225-231.
- de Jonge, J., Dormann, C., Janssen, P. P. M., Dollard, M. F., Landeweerd, J. A., & Nijhuis, F. J. N. (2001). Testing reciprocal relationships between job characteristics and psychological well-being: A cross-lagged structural equation model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74(1), 29-46.
- Deutsch, M. (1975). Equity, equality, and need: What determines which value will be used as the basis for distributive justice? *Journal of Social Issues*, *31*, 137-149.
- Dicken, P. (1998). Global Shift, 3rd edition. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Dierdorff, E. C., & Surface, E. A. (2008). If you pay for skills, will they learn? Skill change and maintenance under a skill-based pay system. *Journal of Management*, 34(4), 721-743.
- Doherty, E. M., & Nord, W. R. (2001). Compensation: trends and expanding horizons. In R. T. Golembiewsky (Ed.), *Handbook of Organizational Behavior* (pp. 13-32). New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.

- Donnelly, J., Gibson, J., & Invancevich, J. (1987). Fundamentals of management. Howewood, IL: Irwin (BPI).
- Dyer, L., & Theriault, R. (1976). The determinants of pay satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 61(5), 596-604.
- Eagly, A. H. (1987). Sex differences in social behavior: A social role interpretation. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Eagly, A. H., Makhijani, M. G., & Klonsky, G. G. (1992). Gender and the evaluation of leaders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, 111, 3-22.
- Eagly, A. H., & Sczesny, S. (2009). Stereotypes about women, men and leaders: Have times changed? In M. Barreto, M. K. Ryan, & M. T. Schmitt (Eds.), *The glass ceiling in the 21st century: Understanding barriers to gender equality* (pp. 21-47). Washington D.C.: American Psychological Association.
- Ekehammar, B., Akrami, N., & Araya, T. (2000). Development and validation of Swedish classical and modern sexism scales. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 41(4), 307-314.
- Ester, P., Halman, L., & de Moor, R. (1994). *The individualizing society: Value change in Europe and North America*. Tilburg: Tilburg University Press.
- Farnham, D., & Horton, S. (1996). Managing private and public organizations. In D. Farnham & S. Horton (Eds.), *Managing the New Public Services* (pp. 3-19). London: McMillan.
- Ferlie, E., Ashburner, L., Fitzgerald, L., & Pettigrew, A. (1996). *The new public management in action*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Flint, D. H. (1999). The role of organizational justice in multi-source performance appraisal: Theory-based applications and directions for research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 9(1), 1-20.
- Folger, R. (1987). Reformulating the preconditions of resentment: A referent cognitions model. In J. C. Masters & W. P Smith (Eds.), *Social comparison, justice, and relative deprivation: Theoretical, empirical, and policy perspectives* (pp. 183-215). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Folger, R., & Cropanzano, R. (1998). Organizational justice and human resource management. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Folger, R., & Cropanzano, R. (2001). Fairness theory: Justice as accountability. In J. Greenberg & R. Cropanzano (Eds.), *Advances in organization justice* (pp. 1-55). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Folger, R., Cropanzano, R., & Goldman, B. (2005). What is the relationship between justice and morality? In J. Greenberg & J. A. Colquitt (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational justice* (pp. 215-247). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Folger, R., & Konovsky, M. A. (1989). Effects of procedural and distributive justice on reactions to pay raise decisions. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 115-130.
- Folger, R., & Schminke, M. (1998). Fairness as moral virtue. Managerial ethics: Moral management of people and processes. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Freedman, S. M., & Phillips, J. S. (1988). The changing nature of research on women at work. *Journal of Management*, 14, 231-251.
- Fried, Y. (1991). Meta-analytic comparison of the job diagnostic survey and job characteristics inventory as correlates of work satisfaction and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76, 690-697.
- Fulk, J., Brief A. P., & Barr, S. H. (1985). Trust-in-supervisor and perceived fairness and accuracy of performance evaluations. *Journal of Business Research*, 13, 301-313.

- Fullagar, C. J., Sverke, M., Sumer, H. C., & Slick, R. (2003). Managerial sex-role stereotyping: A cross cultural analysis. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, 3(1), 93-107.
- Gaddis, B., Connelly, S., & Mumford, M. D. (2004). Failure feedback as an affective event: Influences of leader affect on subordinate attitudes and performance. *Leadership Quarterly*, *15*, 663-686.
- Gecas, V. (1989). The social psychology of self-efficacy. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 15, 291-316.
- Geer, J. H., & McGlone, M. S. (1990). Sex differences in memory for erotica. Cognition and Emotion. *Special Issue: Evaluative conditioning*, 4(1), 71-78.
- Gerhart, B., & Rynes, S. (1991). Determinants and consequences of salary negotiations by male and female MBA graduates. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(2), 256-262.
- Granqvist, L., & Regnér, H. (2008). Decentralized Wage Formation in Sweden. British Journal of Industrial Relations, 46(3), 500-520.
- Grant, A. M., & Parker, S. K. (2009). Redesigning work design theories: The rise of relational and proactive perspectives. *Academy of Management Annals*, 3, 317-375.
- Greenberg, J. (1986). Determinants of perceived fairness of performance evaluations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 340-342.
- Greenberg, J. (1990). Employee theft as a reaction to underpayment inequity: The hidden cost of pay cuts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 561-568.
- Greenberg, J. (1993a). The social side of fairness: Interpersonal and informational classes of organizational justice. In R. Cropanzano (Ed.), *Justice in the workplace: Approaching fairness in human resource management* (pp.79-103). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Greenberg, J. (1993b). Stealing in the name of justice: Informational and interpersonal moderators of the theft reactions to underpayment inequity. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision processes*, 54, 81-103.
- Greenberg, J. (2001). Setting the justice agenda: Seven unanswered questions about "what, why, and how". *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 58, 210-219.
- Greenberg, J. (2004). Stress fairness to fare no stress: Managing workplace stress by promoting organizational justice. *Organizational Dynamics*. *Special Issue: Healthy, happy, productive work: A leadership challenge, 33*(4), 352-365.
- Greenberg, J. (2006). Losing sleep over organizational injustice: Attenuating insomniac reactions to underpayment inequity with supervisory training in interactional justice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(1), 58-69.
- Greenberg, J., Dutton, J., & Ragins, B. R. (2007). Positive organizational justice: From fair to fairer and beyond. Exploring positive relationships at work: Building a theoretical and research foundation. *LEA's organization and management series*, pp. 159-178. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers
- Greenberg, J., & Lind, E. A. (2000). The pursuit of organizational justice: From conceptualization to implication to application. In C. L. Cooper & E. A. Locke (Eds.), *I/O psychology: What we know about theory and practice* (pp. 72-105). Oxford, England: Blackwell.
- Griffeth, R. W., Hom, P. W., & Gaertner, S. (2000). A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: Update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium. *Journal of Management*, 26(3), 463-88.
- Haavind, H., & Magnusson, E. (2005). The Nordic countries welfare paradises for women and children? *Feminism & Psychology*, 15(2), 227-235.

- Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1975). Development of the Job Diagnostic Survey. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 60, 159-170.
- Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1976). Motivation through the design of work: Test of a theory. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 16, 250-279.
- Harris, M. M., Anseel, F., & Lievens, F. (2008). Keeping up with the Joneses: A field study of the relationships between upward, downward, and lateral comparisons and pay level satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93, 665-673.
- Hellgren, J., Sjöberg, A., & Sverke, M. (1997). Intention to quit: effects of job satisfaction and job perceptions. In F. Avallone, J. Arnold, & K. De Witte (Eds.), *Feelings Work in Europe* (pp. 415-423). Milan: Guerini.
- Heneman, R. L., Ledford, G. E., Jr., & Gresham, M. T. (2000). The changing nature of work and its effects on compensation design and delivery. In S. L. Rynes & B. Gerhart (Eds.), *Compensation Organizations* (pp. 18-47). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Heneman, R. L., Porter, G., Greenberger, D. B., & Strasser, S. (1997). Modeling the relationship between pay level and pay satisfaction. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 12(2), 147-158
- Herman, K. S., & Betz, N. E. (2004). Path models of the relationships of instrumentality and expressiveness to social self-efficacy, shyness, and depressive symptoms. *Sex Roles*, *51*, 55-66.
- Hojat, M., Gonnella, J. S., Erdmann, J. B., Rattner, S. L., Veloski, J. J., Glaser, K., & Xu, G. (2000). Gender comparisons of income expectations in the USA at the beginning of medical school during the past 28 years. *Social Science and Medicine*, 50, 1665-1672.
- Holbrook, R. L., Jr. (1999). Managing reactions to performance appraisal: The influence of multiple justice mechanisms. *Social Justice Research*, 12(3), 205-221.
- Homan, G. C. (1961). *Social behaviour: Its elementary forms*. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Honeywell, J. A., Dickinson, A. M., & Poling, A. (1997). Individual performance as a function of individual and group pay contingencies. *The Psychological Record*, 47(2), 261-274.
- Honig, W. K., & Stadden, J. E. R. (1977). *Handbook of operant behavior*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hood, C. (1995). The new public management in the 1980's: Variations on a theme. *Organizations and Society*, 20, 93-109.
- Hultin, M. (2003). Some take the glass escalator, some hit the glass ceiling: Career consequences of occupational sex segregation. *Work and Occupations*, 30(1), 30-61.
- Hultin, M., & Szulkin, R. (1999). Wages and unequal access to organizational power: An empirical test of gender discrimination. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(3), 453-472.
- Hultin, M., & Szulkin, R. (2003). Mechanisms of inequality. unequal access to organizational power and the gender wage gap. *European Sociological Review*, 19(2), 143-159.
- Igbaria, M., & Baroudi, J. J. (1995). The impact of job performance evaluations on career advancement prospects: An examination of gender differences in the IS workplace. *MIS Quarterly*, 19(1), 107-123.
- Ilgen, D. R., Major, D. A., & Tower, S. L. (1994). The cognitive revolution in organizational behavior. In J. Greenberg (Ed.), *Organizational Behavior: The*

- State of the Science. Series in Applied Psychology (pp. 1-22). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Jackson, L. A. (1989). Relative deprivation and the gender wage gap. *Journal of Social issues*, 45(4), 117-133.
- Jackson, L. A., Gardner, P. D., & Sullivan, L. A. (1992). Explaining gender differences in self pay expectations: social comparison standards and perceptions of fair pay. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 651-63.
- Jahoda, M. (1982). Employment and unemployment: A social-psychological analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- James, L. R., Hater, J. J., Gent, M. J., & Bruni, J. R. (1978). Psychological climate: Implications from cognitive social learning theory and interactional psychology. *Personnell Psychology*, 31(4), 783-813.
- James, L. R., & Sells, S. B. (1981). Psychological climate: Theoretical perspectives and empirical research. In D. Magnusson (Ed.), Toward a psychology of situations: an interactional perspective (pp. 275-295). Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Jenkins, G., Douglas, Jr., Mitra, A., Gupta, N., & Shaw, J. D. (1998). Are financial incentives related to performance? A meta-analytic review of empirical research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(5), 777-787.
- Johansson, U. (1998). The transformation of gendered work: Dualistic stereotypes and paradoxical reality. *Gender, Work and Organization, 5*, 43-58.
- Johnson, C. (1994). Gender, legitimate authority, and leader-subordinate conversations. *American Sociological Review*, *59*, 122-135.
- Jones, F. F. (1998). Pay procedures and voluntary turnover: Does procedural justice matter? *Psychological Reports*, 83(2), 475-482.
- Judge, T. A., & Colquitt, J. A. (2004). Organizational justice and stress: The mediating role of work-family conflict. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 395-404.
- Judge, T. A., Erez, A., & Bono, J. E. (1998). The power of being positive: The relation between positive self-concept and job performance. *Human Performance*, 11, 167-188.
- Judge, T. A., Hurst, C., & Simon, L. S. (2009). Does it pay to be smart, attractive, or confident (or all three)? Relationships among general mental ability, physical attractiveness, core self-evaluations, and income. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(3), 742-755.
- Judge, T. A., & Welbourne, T. M. (1994). A confirmatory investigation of the dimensionality of the pay satisfaction questionnaire. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 461-466.
- Jöreskog, K., & Sörbom, D. (2001). LISREL 8: User's Reference Guide, 2nd ed. Lincolnwood: Scientific Software International Inc, 1996-2001.
- Kaman, V. S., & Hartel, C. E. J. (1994). Gender differences in anticipated pay negotiation strategies and outcomes. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 9(2), 183-197.
- Katzell, R. A., & Thompson, D. E. (1990). An integrative model of work attitudes, motivation, and performance. *Human Performance*, *3*(2), 63-85.
- Kernan, M. C., & Hanges, P. J. (2002). Survivor reactions to reorganization: Antecedents and consequences of procedural, interpersonal, and informational justice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 916-928.
- Kohari, N. E., & Lord, R. G. (2007). Consequences of interactional (in)justice: A look at leader behaviors and follower perceptions. In D. De Cremer (Ed.), *Advances in the Psychology of Justice and Affect* (pp. 233-260). U.S.: Information Age Publishing (IAP).

- Kohn, A. (2001). *Why incentive plans cannot work*. In Harward Business Review on Compensation (pp. 29-49). Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.
- Komaki, J. L. (1986). Toward effective supervision: An operant analysis and comparison of managers at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(2), 270-279.
- Kray, L. J., Galinsky, A. D., & Thompson, L. (2001). Reversing the gender gap in negotiations: An exploration of stereotype regeneration. *Organizational Behavior & Human Decision Processes*, 87, 386-409.
- Landy, F. (1985). Psychology of work behaviour. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Latham, G. P., & Pinder, C. C. (2005). Work motivation theory and research at the dawn of the twenty-first century. *Annual review of Psychology*, *56*, 485-516.
- Lawler, E. E., III (1971). Pay and Organizational Effectiveness: A Psychological View. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Lawler, E. E., III (1991). The new plant approach: A second generation approach. *Organizational Dynamics*, 20(1), 5-14.
- Lawler, E. E., III. (2000). Rewarding Excellence: Pay Strategies for the New Economy. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Lawler, E. E., III (2003). Reward practices and performance management system effectiveness. *Organizational Dynamics*, 32(4), 396-404.
- Lawler, E. E., III, Hall, D. T., & Oldham, G. R. (1974). Organizational climate: Relationship to organizational structure, process and performance. *Organizational Behavior & Human Performance*, 11(1), 139-155.
- Lawler, E. E., III, & Jenkins, G. D., Jr. (1992). In M. D. Dunnette & L. M. Hough (Eds.), Strategic reward systems. Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology (pp. 1009-1055). Palo Alto, CA, US: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Leliveld, M. C., van Beest, I., van Dijk, E., & Tenbrunsel, A. E. (2009). Understanding the influence of outcome valence in bargaining: A study on fairness accessibility, norms, and behavior. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(3), 505-514.
- Leventhal, G. S. (1980). What should be done with equity theory? New approaches to the study of fairness in social relationships. In K. Gergen, M. Greenberg, & R. Willis (Eds.), *Social exchange: Advances in the theory and research* (pp. 167-218). New York: Plenum Press.
- Levy, P. E., & Williams, J. R. (2004). The social context of performance appraisal:

 A review and framework for the future. *Journal of Management*, 30(6), 881-
- Lilly, J. D., & Virick, M. (2006). The effect of personality on perceptions of justice. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 21(5), 438-458.
- Lind, E. A., & Tyler, T. R. (1988). The social psychology of procedural justice: Critical issues in social justice. New York, NY, US: Plenum Press.
- Ljunglöf, T., & Pokarzhevskaya, G. (2009). Olika kön olika lön: löneskillnader mellan kvinnor och män i 76 akademikeryrken [Different genders different pay: Pay differences between women and men in 76 academic occupations]. Stockholm: Sveriges Akademikers Centralorganisation.
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The nature and causes of job satisfaction. In M. D. Dunnette (Ed.), *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology* (pp. 1297-1349). Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- Locke, E. A., Sirota, D., & Wolfson, A. D. (1976). An experimental case study of the successes and failures of job enrichment in a government agency. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 61(6), 701-711.

- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. *American Psychologist*, *57*(9), 705-717.
- Loher, B. T., Noe, R. A., Moeller, N. L., & Fitzgerald, M. P. (1985). A metaanalysis of the relation of job characteristics to job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(2), 280-289.
- Lueptow, L. B. (2005). Increasing differentiation of women and men: Gender trait analysis 1974-1997. *Psychological Reports*, 97, 277-287.
- Lundin, R., & Söderholm, A. (1997). Ledning för förnyelse i landsting: Strategiska projekt i komplexa organisationer [Managing for renewal in county councils: Strategic projects in complex organizations]. Stockholm: Nerenius & Santérus.
- MacKinnon, D., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation Analysis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 593-614.
- Magnusson, D. (1981). Wanted: a psychology of situations. In D. Magnusson (Ed.), *Toward a psychology of situations: An interactional perspective*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Magnusson, L. (1999). Ett arbetsliv i förändring-Sverige 1950-2000 [A changing working life-Sweden/1950-2000]. SOU 1999:69, pp. 27-39.
- Major, B (1989). Gender differences in comparisons and entitlement: Implications for comparable worth. *Journal of Social Issues*, 45, 99-115.
- Major, B., Vanderslice, V., & McFarlin, D. B. (1984). Effects of pay expected on pay received: The confirmatory nature of initial expectations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *14*, 399-412.
- Mamman, A. (1997). Employees' attitudes toward criteria for pay systems. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 137, 33-41.
- Mannheim, B., & Angel, O. (1986). Pay systems and work-role centrality of industrial workers. *Personnel Psychology* 39(2), 359-377.
- Masterson, S. S., Lewis, K., Goldman, B. M., & Taylor, S. M. (2000). Integrating justice and social exchange: The differing effects of fair procedures and treatment on work relationships. *Academy of Management Journal. Special research forum on the management of organizations in the natural environment*, 43(4), 738-748.
- Martocchio, J. J. (2006). Research in personnel and human resources management. US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.
- Mathieu, J. E., & Zajac, D. M. (1990). A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates, and consequences of organizational commitment. *Psychological Bulletin, 108*(2), 171-194.
- McKelvie, S. J., Standing, L., St. Jean, D., & Law, J. (1993). Gender differences in recognition memory for faces and cars: Evidence for the interest hypothesis. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *31*(5), 447-448.
- Meterko, G. J., Young, B, White, B. G., Bokhour, J. F., Burgess, Jr., Berlowitz, D., Guldin, M. R., & Nealon Seibert, M. (2006). Provider attitudes toward pay-for-performance programs: Development and validation of a measurement instrument. *Health Services Research*, 41(5), 1959-1978
- Meyer, H. H., Kay, E., & French, J. R., Jr. (1965). Split roles in performance appraisal. *Harvard Business Review*, 43(1), 123-129.
- Miceli, M. P., & Lane, M. C. (1991). Antecedents of pay satisfaction: A review and extension. In K. Rowland & J. Ferris (Eds.), *Research in personnel and human resources management* (pp. 235-309). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Mikula, G., Scherer, K. R., & Athenstaedt, U. (1998). The role of injustice in the elicitation of differential emotional reactions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24, 769-783.

- Miller, M. E., & West, A. N. (1993). Influences of world view on personality, epistemology, and choice of profession. In J. Demick & P. M. Miller (Eds.), *Development in the workplace* (pp. 3-19). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Miller, D. T. (2001). Disrespect and the experience of injustice. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 527-553.
- Milliman J., Nason, S., Zhu, C., & De Cieri, H. (2002). An exploratory assessment of the purposes of performance appraisals in North and Central America and the Pacific Rim. *Human Resource Management*, 41(1), 87-102.
- Mizell, C. A. (1999). African American men's personal sense of mastery: The consequences of the adolescent environment, self-concept and adult achievement. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 25, 210-230.
- Montemayor, E. F. (1995). Situation or person? Contrasting the effects of budget constraints and individual values on pay-for-performance norms. *The Journal of Psychology*, 129(5), 531-541.
- Morand, D. A. (2000). Language and power: An empirical analysis of linguistic strategies used in superior-subordinate communication. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 235-248.
- Mueller, C. W., Iverson, R. D., & Jo, D-G. (1999). Distributive justice evaluations in two cultural contexts: A comparison of U.S. and South Korean teachers. *Human Relations*, 7, 869-893.
- Mueller, G., & Plug, E. (2004). Estimating the effect of personality on male-female earnings. *IZA Discussion Papers*, no. 1254. Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).
- Mulvey, P. W., LeBlanc, P. V., Heneman, R. L., & McInerney, M. (2002). The effects of pay knowledge on pay satisfaction, organizational commitment and intentions to turnover. *Journal of Organizational Excellence*, 21(4), 29-42.
- Mählck, P. (2001). Mapping gender differences in scientific careers in social and bibliometric space. *Science, Technology, & Human Values, 26*(2), 167-190.
- Mählck, P. (2004). The symbolic order of gender in academic workplace. Ways of reproducing gender inequality within the discourse of equality. *Ethnologia Europaea*, 34(1), 81-96.
- National Mediation Office (2008). Vad säger den officiella lönestatistiken om löneskillnaden mellan kvinnor och män 2008? [What do the official pay statistics tell us about the pay differences between women and men 2008]. Report retrieved from: http://www.mi.se/main/main_kvinnaman.html.
- National Mediation Office & Swedish Statistical Records (2008). *Löner och* sysselsättning inom landstingskommunal sektor 2008 [Wages and employment in county councils 2008]. Report retrieved from: http://www.scb.se/Pages/PublishingCalendarViewInfo.
- Neu, E. (2006). Lönesättning i praktiken: en studie om chefers handlingsutrymme [Pay setting in practice. A study on mangers' scope for action]. Doctoral Thesis, no. 116. Uppsala, Sweden: Uppsala University, Departement of Business Studies.
- OECD (2003). Trends in Public Sector Pay in OECD Countries. Paris: OECD.
- OECD (2005). OECD Employment and Labour Market Statistics. OECD: Paris.
- OECD (2007). OECD Employment outlook 2007: Statistical annex. Retrieved from: http://www.oecd.org/document/38/0,3343,en_2649_33927_36936230_1_1_1_1, 00.
- Oldham, J. R., & Hackman, G. R. (2010). Not what it was and not what it will be: The future of job design research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 31, 463-479.

- Olsson, G. (1999). Kvinna i Akademia gäst vid mannens bord [A woman in academia a guest at the man's table]. *Nordisk psykologi*, 49, 98-113.
- Parker, C. P., Baltes, B. B., Young, S. A., Huff, J. W., Altmann, R. A., Lacost, H. A., & Roberts, J. E. (2003). Relationships between psychological climate perceptions and work outcomes: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 24(4), 389-416.
- Perrewé, P. L., & Zellars, K. L. (1999). An examination of attributions and emotions in the transactional approach to the organizational stress process. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 20, 739-752.
- Pfeffer, J. (1997). New Directions for Organizational Theory: Problems and Prospects. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Pfeffer, J. (2001). Six dangerous myths about pay. In Harward Business Review on Compensation (pp. 141-166). Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.
- Pfeffer, J., & Sutton, R. I. (2006). *Hard facts, dangerous half-truths, and total nonsense: Profiting from evidence-based management*. Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.
- Phelan, J. (1994). The paradox of the contented female worker: An assessment of alternative explanations. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *57*(2), 95-107.
- Porter, L. W., Bigley, G. A., & Steers, R. M. (2003). *Motivation and work behavior*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Quarstein, V., McAfee, R., & Glassman, M. (1992). The situational occurrences theory of job satisfaction. *Human Relations*, 45, 859-873.
- Rice, R. W., Phillips, S. M., & McFarlin, D. B. (1990). Multiple discrepancies and pay satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 386-393.
- Rosen, B., & Jerdee, T. H. (1973). The influence of sex-role stereotypes on evaluations of male and female supervisory behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 57(1), 44-48.
- Rosen, B., & Jerdee, T. H. (1974). Effects of applicant's sex and difficulty of job on evaluations of candidates for managerial positions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 59(4), 511-512.
- Rousseau, D. (1989). Psychological and implied contracts in organizations. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 2(2), 121-139.
- Rupp, D. E., & Cropanzano, R. (2002). The mediating effects of social exchange relationships in predicting workplace outcomes from multifoci organizational justice. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 89(1), 925-946.
- Ryan, A. M., Schmit, M. J., & Johnson, R. (1996). Attitudes and effectiveness: Examining relations at organizational level. *Personnel Psychology*, 49, 853-882
- Sauser, W. I., & York, M. C. (1978). Sex differences in job satisfaction: A reexamination. *Personnel Psychology*, *31*, 537-547.
- Schaubroeck, J., May, D. R., & Brown, F. W. (1994). Procedural justice explanations and employee reactions to economic hardship: A field experiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 455-460.
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Shapiro, D. L., Buttner, E. H., & Barry, B. (1994). Explanations for rejection decisions: What factors enhance their perceived adequacy and moderate their enhancement of justice perceptions? *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 58, 346-368.
- Shapiro, D. L., Kirkman, B. L., Greenberg, J., & Cropanzano, R. (2001). Anticipatory injustice: The consequences of expecting injustice in the

- workplace. In *Advances in organization justice* (pp. 152-178). Standford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Skarlicki, D. P., & Folger, R. (1997). Retaliation in the workplace: The roles of distributive, procedural, and interactional justice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(3), 434-443.
- Skarlicki, D. P., & Latham, G. P. (2005). How can training be used to foster organizational justice? In J. Greenberg & J. Colquitt (Eds.), *Handbook of* organizational justice (pp. 499-522). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Skinner, B. F. (1974). About behaviorism. NY: Vintage.
- Small, D. A., Gelfand, M., Babcock, L., & Gettman, H. (2007). Who goes to the bargaining table? The influence of gender and framing on the initiation of negotiation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *93*(4), 600-613.
- Spector, P. E. (1994). Using self-report questionnaires in OB research: A comment on the use of a controversial method. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 15, 385-392.
- Spector, P. E. (2006). Method variance in organizational research. Truth or urban legend? *Organizational Research Methods*, 9(2), 221-232.
- Spector, P. E., Zapf, D., Chen, P. Y., & Frese, M. (2000). Why negative affectivity should not be controlled in job stress research: Don't throw out the baby with the bathwater. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21, 79-95.
- Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, *52*, 613-629.
- Stevens, C. K., Bavetta, A. G., & Gist, M. E. (1993). Gender differences in the acquisition of salary negotiation skills: The role of goals, self-efficacy, and perceived control. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 723-735.
- Stroh, L. K., Brett, J. M., & Reilly, A. H. (1993). Family structure, glass ceiling, and traditional explanations for the differential rate of turnover of female and male managers. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 49, 99-118.
- Stuhlmacher, A. F., & Walters, A. E. (1999). Gender differences in negotiation outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 52, 653-677.
- Summers, T. P., & DeNisi, A. S. (1990). In search of Adam's other: Re-examination of referents used in the evaluation of pay. *Human Relations*, 43(6), 497-511.
- Sweeney, P. D., & McFarlin, D. B. (1993). Workers' evaluations of the "ends" and the "means": An examination of four models of distributive and procedural justice. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 55, 23-40.
- Sweeney, P. D., McFarlin D. B., & Inderrieden, E. J. (1990). Using relative deprivation theory to explain satisfaction with income and pay level: A multistudy examination. *Academy of Management Journal*, *33*, 423-436.
- Sweins, C., & Kalmi, P. (2008). Pay knowledge, pay satisfaction and employee commitment: Evidence from Finnish profit-sharing schemes. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 18(4), 366-385.
- Tannenbaum, H. R., & Leaper, C. (2003). Parent–child conversations about science: The socialization of gender inequities. *Developmental Psychology*, *39*, 34-47.
- Taylor, S. M. (2001). Reflections on fairness: Continuing the progression of justice research and practice. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 58(2), 243-253.
- Tekleab, A. G., Bartol, K. M., & Liu, W. (2005). Is it pay levels or pay rises that matter to fairness and turnover? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 26(8), 899-921.
- Tepper, B. J. (2000). Consequences of abusive supervision. *Academy of Management Journal*, 43(2), 178-190.

- Tharenou, P. (1999). Is there a link between family structures and women's and men's managerial career advancement? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 20, 837-863.
- Thibaut, J., & Walker, L. (1975). *Procedural justice: A psychological analysis*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Tolbert, P. S., & Moen, P. (1998). Men's and women's definitions of "good" jobs: Similarities and differences by age and across time. *Work and Occupations*, 25(2), 168-194.
- Tyler, T. R., & Lind, E. A. (1992). A relational model of authority in groups. In M.
 P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (pp. 115-191). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Vartiainen, C., Antoni, C., Baeten, X., Hakonen, N., Lucas, R., & Thierry, H. (2008). Preface challenges of European reward systems. In *Reward management: Facts and Trends in Europe* (pp. 3-12). Lengerich, Germany: Pabst Science Publishers.
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. Oxford, England: Wiley.
- Wagner, J. A., & Moch, M. K. (1986). Individualism-collectivism: Concept and measure. *Group and Organization Studies*, 11, 280-303.
- Wallenberg, J. (2000). Löner och arbetsplatsförhållanden för Kommunals medlemmar [Wages and working conditions among members of the Swedish Municipal Workers' Union]. Stockholm: Svenska kommunalarbetareförbundet.
- Warr, P. B. (2007). Work, happiness, and unhappiness. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Weiss, H. M., & Cropanzano, R. (1996). Affective events theory: A theoretical discussion of the structure, causes and consequences of affective experiences at work. In B. M. Staw & L. L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in Organizational Behavior: An Annual Series of Analytical Essays and Critical Reviews (pp. 1-74). US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.
- Weiss, H. M., Suckow, K., & Cropanzano, R. (1999). Effects of justice conditions on discrete emotions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(5), 786-794.
- Wetterberg, T. (2002). Vill man ha jämställdhet? [Does men want gender equality?]. Slutrapport för projekt Män och Jämställdhet [Final report for the project Men and Gender Equality]. Regeringskansliet. Stockholm: Fritzes Offentliga Publikationer.
- Williams, J. R., & Levy, P. E. (2000). Investigating some neglected criteria: The influence of organizational level and perceived system knowledge on appraisal reactions. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 14(3), 501-513.
- Williams, M. L., McDaniel, M. A., & Nguyen, N. T. (2006). A meta-analysis of the antecedents and consequences of pay satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(2), 392-413.